

# International Legal Frameworks for Humanitarian Action

**Topic Guide** 

#### **Author and contributors**

This GSDRC Topic Guide was written by Huma Haider and published in March 2013. Its production was supported by the UK Government, UKaid.

GSDRC appreciates the contributions of Heike Spieker, German Red Cross and University College Dublin; Bhavani Fonseka, Centre for Policy Alternatives, Sri Lanka; Ceri Hayes, Independent Gender Consultant; Michael Meyer, British Red Cross; Allehone Abebe, UNHCR Geneva; and Deborah Baglole, DFID.

#### **About this Topic Guide**

GSDRC Topic Guides are flexible thematic knowledge and evidence resources with a modular structure. They are designed to support decision-makers working in international development and humanitarian assistance. This guide has been written such that it can be read conventionally – from start to finish; however, users of the guide can also simply consult the specific sections in which they are particularly interested.

Comments, questions or documents for consideration can be sent to enquiries@gsdrc.org.

Suggested citation:

GSDRC (2013). *International legal frameworks for humanitarian action: Topic guide*. Birmingham, UK: GSDRC, University of Birmingham

#### **GSDRC**

International Development Department, College of Social Sciences University of Birmingham, B15 2TT, UK www.gsdrc.org

© DFID Crown Copyright 2013 This Topic Guide is licensed under the Open Government Licence: www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence

ISBN: 9780704428942

#### **Contents**

The Legal Frameworks at a Glance	5
Introduction Summary Map: The Legal Frameworks at a Glance	6 7
Concepts, Principles and Legal Provisions	11
Introduction to International Law What are the sources of international law? What disciplines of international law are relevant to humanitarian assistance? Why is international law important to humanitarian actors?	12
Overview of International Humanitarian Law What are the aims and sources of IHL? When does IHL apply? What are key provisions and principles of IHL applicable to civilian protection? How are gender and culture treated in IHL?	14
Overlapping Areas of Law – Toward a Comprehensive Legal Framework International human rights law Human rights, humanitarianism and IHL The Interplay of IHL and IHRL International refugee law International criminal law	19
Humanitarian Principles and Humanitarian Assistance What are humanitarian principles? How are humanitarian principles treated in IHL? How is humanitarian assistance treated in IHL: What duties and rights exist? How is humanitarian assistance regulated under IHL? What is the relevance of human rights law to humanitarian assistance?	24
References	31
Resources	33

Challenges, Traps and Debates	36
The Emergence of 'International Disaster Response Laws, Rules and Principles Differing contexts – disasters and armed conflicts What are the main sources of IDRL? How is humanitarian assistance treated in IDRL: What duties and rights exist? What are the gaps in IDRL and related problems? What are recent developments in IDRL?	s' 37
IHL and Humanitarian Assistance Involving Non-State Armed Groups Under what basis is IHL considered binding on non-state armed groups? Should armed groups be involved in law creation? How to engage with armed groups?	42
The Responsibility to Protect What led to the development of the 'responsibility to protect'? How does the 'responsibility to protect' differ from 'humanitarian intervention'? How has the concept of R2P been treated? What is the legal force of R2P and what are challenges to its implementation?	46
Compliance with and Enforcement of International Humanitarian Law Provisions under the Geneva Conventions and Additional Protocols Military counsel and sanctions Fact-finding Human rights bodies Courts, tribunals and international criminal law	49
References	54
Resources	57

# The Legal Frameworks at a Glance

A brief summary of the relevant frameworks, key provisions and implications for humanitarian assistance

#### In this section:

- Introduction
- Summary map: the legal frameworks at a glance
  - International humanitarian law
  - International human rights law
  - International refugee law
  - International criminal law
  - International disaster response laws, rules and principles

### The Legal Frameworks at a Glance

#### Introduction

The provision of humanitarian assistance takes place in a variety of settings – under occupation, in international and internal armed conflicts, and in the event of natural or man-made disasters. Humanitarian needs are often extensive – as are challenges in delivering assistance. During the conflict in Darfur, for example, humanitarian personnel and vehicles were subject to military attacks. After the 2004 Indian Ocean tsunami, regulatory barriers to disaster relief hindered the effectiveness and efficiency of assistance.

International legal frameworks for humanitarian action not only provide guidance on how to address such situations, but can also serve as powerful tools in advocating for, and achieving, the protection of affected civilian populations. For instance, negotiations and arguments for access can be strengthened by reference to specific legal obligations of the parties to the armed conflict to permit access.

The frameworks comprise different branches of international law, the most prominent being international humanitarian law (IHL), which governs during armed conflict. The humanitarian principles of humanity and impartiality have a basis in IHL. In addition to regulating the means and methods of warfare, IHL outlines the rights and duties of parties to an armed conflict and the potential role of humanitarian agencies regarding assistance. Occupying powers were the only parties originally obligated to provide for humanitarian assistance. Over time, however, this obligation has been extended to cover other international and internal armed conflicts, largely through international customary law. International human rights law, international refugee law and international criminal law can operate at the same time as IHL, combining to create a comprehensive and established legal framework for protection and assistance.

International disaster response laws, rules and principles (IDRL) is a new area of focus targeting states and humanitarian agencies operating in disaster areas not subject to IHL. IDRL is a fragmented collection of treaties and non-binding resolutions and guidelines. It is a weaker framework than IHL: regulatory issues are therefore more problematic in the delivery of assistance in disasters than in armed conflicts. Progress has been made, however, with new guidelines and attempts to develop a more coherent disaster framework.

The legal framework for assistance also remains unclear in other areas. One of these is the extent to which international law is binding on **non-state actors** – a particular challenge in non-international armed conflicts when armed groups control areas in which civilian populations are in need. In addition, although the **'responsibility to protect'** has been recognised as an 'emerging norm', it has not developed into consistent state practice that could provide for legal interventions without state consent in order to protect civilians. This is evident in the different responses to the recent humanitarian crises in Libya and Syria, with action authorised in the former but not the latter.

Even in areas where the law is well established, **compliance** and **enforcement** are challenging. There are various methods and mechanisms to encourage compliance with IHL, such as military sanctions and disciplinary measures, fact-finding missions and individual complaints through human rights bodies. In recent years, international criminal law has emerged as an important mechanism for enforcing IHL by holding individuals to account for violations.

### **Summary Map: The Legal Frameworks at a Glance**

What is the purpose and application?	What are the key sources of law?	What are key provisions?	What are the implications for humanitarian assistance?				
International humanitarian law (IHL)							
Seeks to protect persons and property/objects that are (or may be) affected by armed conflict and limits the rights of parties to a conflict to use methods and means of warfare of their choice	<ul> <li>Key treaties:</li> <li>Hague Convention, 1907</li> <li>Four Geneva Conventions, 1949 (GCs)</li> <li>Additional Protocols I and II, 1977 (ADI and ADII)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Principles of distinction; necessity and proportionality; humane treatment; non-discrimination</li> <li>Obligates an occupying power to ensure that populations in the occupied territory have necessities (e.g. food, medical and health supplies</li> </ul>	It is the parties to the conflict who have the legal obligation and primary responsibility to provide humanitarian assistance to civilians under their control. IHL allows, however, for the possibility (with certain conditions) of relief actions to be undertaken by				
Operates only in situations of armed conflict  Applies to all parties to a conflict.	<ul> <li>(API and APII)</li> <li>International customary law:         outlined/indicated in 2005 ICRC study         on customary IHL</li> <li>General principles of law:         jus cogens norms, such as prohibitions         against genocide and torture</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>In other international and internal armed conflicts, relief actions 'shall be undertaken' but with the consent of state parties. There is debate about whether consent is required in all circumstances.</li> </ul>	In situations of occupation, the obligation of occupying authorities to facilitate and cooperate with relief schemes is unconditional. Despite the consent requirement in other contexts there is growing recognition (although still contested) that, as long as there is				
	those of the International Court of Justice.	<ul> <li>Prohibits deliberate starvation of civilians as a method of warfare</li> <li>Obligates states to ensure the respect and protection of relief workers</li> <li>Rules on access to affected populations and delivery of humanitarian assistance in international armed conflicts (e.g.</li> </ul>	humanitarian need and organisation and relief actions operate in accord with humanitarian principles, governments cannot arbitrarily refu assistance. This runs alongside arguments to recognise a right to humanitarian assistance.  Specific provisions on access, delive assistance and protection of humanitarian workers aim to reduct tape' and allow for the speedy delive of relief to protected persons.				
		<ul> <li>entry of personnel, customs clearance, taxation of relief)</li> <li>Rules concerning vulnerable groups:</li> <li>entail both non-discrimination and</li> </ul>					

entail both non-discrimination and

positive measures.

What	is	the	pur	pose	and	
application?						

# What are the key sources of law?

#### What are key provisions?

# What are the implications for humanitarian assistance?

#### International human rights law (IHRL)

- Outlines the obligations and duties of states to respect, to protect and to fulfil human rights of those persons under their jurisdiction. It enables individuals and groups to claim certain behaviour or benefits from a state authority
- Operates in peacetime and during armed conflict, crisis and disaster settings
- Applies to states, but provides individuals with certain direct entitlements
- Guidelines/regional treaties for internally displaced persons (IDPs) provide protection and assistance to IDPs.

- Key treaties:
  - International Covenants on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) and Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, 1966 (ICESCR)
  - Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of Genocide, 1948
  - Other international treaties, such as the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), 1979, and regional treaties, such as regional IDP conventions
- International customary law
- General principles of law: jus cogens norms
- Judicial decisions and teachings: various decisions by human rights bodies (treaty implementing bodies); the International Court of Justice
- Supplementary non-binding soft law, such as the Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement, 1998; guidelines and resolutions from the UN Security Council and the General Assembly on how to increase the protection of women during times of armed conflict e.g. UN Security Council Resolutions 1325, 1888 and 1889.

- Political rights protected include rights to life, freedom from torture, freedom of movement, etc.
- Economic and social rights protected include rights to food, housing, clothing, health, livelihood, an adequate standard of living etc.
- No explicit reference to international humanitarian assistance
- Allows states to derogate from certain civil and political rights in times of public emergency which threatens the nation (including war), following certain procedures. There are certain rights though (e.g. the right to life) from which no derogation is allowed.

IHRL does not explicitly address the issue of access to humanitarian assistance. Others emphasise that the right to life could indicate a minimal right to assistance; and that the various economic and social rights guaranteed create the legal space for individuals to claim the right to humanitarian assistance. This would have corresponding obligations on the part of states to provide such assistance.

What is the purpose and application?	What are the key sources of law?	What are key provisions?	What are the implications for humanitarian assistance?				
International refugee law							
<ul> <li>Provides protection and assistance to individuals who have crossed an international border and are at risk or victims of persecution in their country of origin. Does not apply to IDPs</li> <li>Operates in peacetime and during armed conflict</li> <li>Applies to states.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Key treaty:         Convention on the Status of Refugees,         1951</li> <li>International customary law</li> <li>General principles of law</li> <li>Judicial decisions and teachings.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Defines a 'refugee' as someone externally displaced through a 'well-founded fear of being persecuted for reasons of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion' (1951 Convention).</li> <li>Allows for concurrent application of other instruments granting refugees rights and benefits</li> <li>Individuals who have engaged in certain violations of IHL may not be entitled to refugee protection.</li> </ul>	Where a victim of armed conflict is forced to leave his or her country due to violations of IHL or IHRL, such violations could trigger refugee protection.  IHL may in some instances afford more protection and assistance to refugees in internal armed conflicts as it binds all organised armed groups, versus solely states.  IHRL has been important to developing protection for IDPs.				
	International criminal law (ICL)						
<ul> <li>Prohibits certain categories of conduct viewed as serious violations (primarily war crimes, crimes against humanity and genocide) and seeks to hold accountable individual perpetrators of such conduct</li> <li>Criminal responsibility is individualised. Superiors can under certain conditions be held responsible</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Treaties: The statutes of international/hybrid criminal courts grant jurisdiction over war crimes (serious IHL violations), crimes against humanity and genocide.</li> <li>Geneva conventions and API: Obligates state parties to investigate persons accused of carrying out or ordering grave breaches of IHL</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Individuals can be held accountable for grave breaches of the GCs and serious violations of common Article 3 of the GCs</li> <li>The ICC Statute expands the list of war crimes under international armed conflict. It also extends individual accountability to war crimes in internal armed conflicts</li> </ul>	Private individuals can be held criminally liable for attacks against humanitarian personnel and supplies.				
for actions of their subordinates under 'command responsibility'  States have primary responsibility to prosecute crimes.	<ul> <li>International customary law</li> <li>General principles of law</li> <li>Judicial decisions and teachings:</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Serious violations of the laws and customs applicable in armed conflict includes intentionally directing attacks against personnel, vehicles, structures</li> </ul>					

and materials involved in

humanitarian assistance (that are

entitled to civilian protection).

Court decisions are not simply

declaratory of the law, but are

some cases its establishment.

important in its development and in

What is the purpose and application?		What are the key sources of law?		What are key provisions?	What are the implications for humanitarian assistance?
		International disaster respo	nse	laws, rules and principles (IDRL)	
Aimed at improving the international humanitarian framework covering humanitarian assistance to populations in the context of natural disasters  Applies to states and non-state actors.		Treaties: international, regional and bilateral treaties on specific sectors (e.g. health, transport), technical assistance, mutual assistance and agreements regulating humanitarian relief between the state parties  Non-binding UN resolutions  Non-binding 'Guidelines for the Domestic Facilitation and Regulation of International Disaster Relief and Initial Recovery Assistance', 2007		UN General Assembly Resolutions emphasise that sovereignty is a key feature of international disaster assistance  The affected state has primary responsibility for all aspects of humanitarian assistance within its territory (initiation, organisation, coordination and implementation)  International assistance should be provided with the state's consent.	The emphasis is on the 'importance' rather than the 'right' of humanitarian assistance in disaster contexts.  Regulatory problems in the delivery of humanitarian assistance are exacerbated in disaster contexts due to the absence of an established comprehensive legal framework and an undeveloped coordination mechanism.
	i	International Law Commission's Draft Articles on the Protection of Persons in the Event of Disasters.			

# Concepts, Principles and Legal Provisions

An overview of the relevant legal frameworks for humanitarian action, sources of law, principles and provisions for protection and assistance

#### In this section:

- Introduction to international law
- Overview of international humanitarian law
- Overlapping areas of law toward a comprehensive legal framework
- Humanitarian principles and humanitarian assistance
- References
- Resources

### **Concepts, Principles and Legal Provisions**

#### **Introduction to International Law**

Public international law (commonly referred to as 'international law') governs relationships between and among entities with international legal personality: sovereign states and other international actors, such as inter-governmental organisations and individual natural persons. The legal personality attributed to these entities means that they have rights, protections, responsibilities and liabilities under international law.

#### What are the sources of international law?

There are four significant sources of international law, identified in Article 38 of the Statute of the International Court of Justice (ICJ):

- 1. International conventions (treaties) establish written rules that are binding on states that have signed and ratified the conventions. Treaties are contractual in nature, between and among states, and governed by international law.
- 2. International custom establishes unwritten rules that are binding on all states, based on general practice. Their binding power is based on implied consent, evidenced by (a.) virtually uniform state practice over time and (b.) a belief that such practice is a legal obligation (opinio juris). Thus, for rules to become part of international customary law, states must follow them, not out of convenience or habit, but because they believe they are legally obligated to do so.
- **3. General principles of law recognised by civilised nations** include peremptory norms (*jus cogens*), from which **no derogation** is allowed for example, the principles contained in the United Nations Charter that prohibit the use of force except in self-defence. There is ongoing debate, however, about which particular rules have achieved *jus cogens* status.
- 4. Judicial decisions and the teachings of the most highly qualified publicists of the various nations are subsidiary means for the determinations of rules of law. While court decisions and scholarly legal work are not sources of international law, they are considered important in recognising the law and interpreting and developing the rules sourced in treaties, custom and the general principles of law.

The first three of the above are recognised as the most important and well-established sources of international law. However, some states, academics and jurists highlight that court judgements, the ICJ's advisory opinions and UN General Assembly Resolutions (often classified as 'soft law') are becoming increasingly influential in the development of the law. In particular, it is argued that they play a role in the establishment of customary international law. For example, the ICJ's decisions that certain treaty provisions in international humanitarian law have the status of customary international law have sometimes led states not party to the treaty to view themselves as bound to comply with its obligations (Alvarez-Jiménez, 2011). In addition, the ICJ noted in its 1996 advisory opinion regarding the *Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons* that General Assembly resolutions, while not binding, may provide evidence for establishing the existence of a rule or the emergence of *opinio juris*, required for international custom (Prost and Clark, 2006).

#### What disciplines of international law are relevant to humanitarian assistance?

#### International humanitarian law

International humanitarian law (IHL) is the discipline of international law that is inspired by considerations of humanity and the mitigation of human suffering. It comprises a set of rules, established by treaty or custom, that seeks to protect persons and property/objects that are (or may be) affected by armed conflict and limits the rights of parties to a conflict to use methods and means of warfare of their choice. It has informed the development of humanitarian principles in the provision of humanitarian assistance. See the section *Overview of IHL* and, for IHL provisions pertinent to the protection of civilians and the delivery of humanitarian assistance, *Humanitarian Principles and Humanitarian Assistance*.

#### International human rights law

International human rights law (IHRL) comprises a set of rules, established by treaty or custom, that outlines the obligations and duties of states to respect, protect and fulfil human rights. It enables individuals and groups to claim certain behaviour or benefits from government. As will be discussed in *Overlapping Areas of Law*, IHRL contains a number of provisions relevant to humanitarian assistance, including the right to life, the rights to food and water, the rights to essential medications, medical care and sanitation, the rights to adequate clothing and other necessities, and the rights to equality and non-discrimination. Displaced persons who remain within the borders of their own country (referred to as internally displaced persons – IDPs) are not protected by international refugee law. However, they can benefit from IHRL and IHL in the case of an armed conflict. The guiding principles on internal displacement are a set of non-binding international standards, drawn largely from human rights standards, developed to provide protection and assistance to IDPs.

#### International refugee law

International refugee law encompasses a set of rules, established by treaty or custom, with the aim of providing protection and assistance to **individuals who have crossed an international border** and are **at risk** or **victims of persecution in their country of origin**. *Overlapping Areas of Law* will discuss the links between IHL, IHRL and the protection of refugees and IDPs.

#### International criminal law

International criminal law (ICL), *a* relatively new body of law, prohibits certain categories of conduct viewed as **serious atrocities** (primarily war crimes, crimes against humanity and genocide) and seeks to **hold accountable individual perpetrators** of such conduct. It functions through international *ad hoc* tribunals, mixed tribunals, the International Criminal Court and national courts. ICL will be discussed in the sections on *Overlapping Areas of Law* and *Compliance with and Enforcement of Humanitarian Law*.

#### International disaster response laws, rules and principles

International disaster response laws, rules and principles (IDRL) is a new area of focus aimed at expanding the international humanitarian framework to cover **humanitarian assistance to populations in the context of natural disasters**. It aims to facilitate humanitarian assistance to persons that do not benefit from the protections of IHL, relevant only in situations of armed conflict. The rules of IDRL are not based on a core treaty (or core treaties) but are derived from a broad range of sources – treaties, resolutions,

declarations, codes, guidelines, protocols and procedures. The system is complex and fragmented, but some common themes have emerged. See the section on *The Emergence of 'International Disaster Response Laws, Rules and Principles'*.

#### Why is international law important to humanitarian actors?

The existence of different disciplines and sources of international law relevant to humanitarian protection and assistance results in a comprehensive framework applicable to a range of circumstances. International humanitarian law has provided the basis for core humanitarian principles, such as humanity and impartiality. It can thus provide insight into, or add weight to, the principles of humanitarian assistance on which humanitarian actors rely. Such actors include not only direct providers of assistance but also local groups and communities advocating to obtain better assistance.

Many of the problems addressed in IHL treaties continue to reflect the concerns faced by humanitarian actors today. For example, IHL has addressed concerns over skewing the power balance in an armed conflict through the diversion and/or misuse of humanitarian assistance by parties to the conflict. Constrained access to populations in need in situations of armed conflict also remains a key challenge. Negotiations and arguments for access may be strengthened by reference to the specific international legal obligations of the parties to the conflict to permit access (whether based on IHL, IHRL or other disciplines of international law). These various provisions will be discussed in *Humanitarian Principles and Humanitarian Assistance*. An understanding of the different legal disciplines and their relevance and applicability to the particular situation enables stronger positions and advocacy for protection and assistance for populations in need. The success of such legal strategies is, however, context-specific and dependent on various other factors.

#### **Overview of International Humanitarian Law**

International humanitarian law comprises a set of rules, established by treaty or custom, applicable in situations of armed conflict. As noted, it is inspired by considerations of humanity and the mitigation of human suffering.

#### What are the aims and sources of IHL?

#### Aims

Although the origins of IHL can be traced to at least the nineteenth century, the principles and practices on which it is based are much older. International humanitarian law, also referred to as the law of armed conflict or the law of war, is designed to balance humanitarian concerns and military necessity. It subjects warfare to the rule of law by limiting its destructive effect and mitigating human suffering. IHL covers two key areas:

- 1. Protection and assistance to those affected by the hostilities
- 2. Regulation of the means and methods of warfare.

#### Sources

The sources of IHL are the same as those for international law in general:

#### International convention

The two main treaty sources of IHL are the **Hague Convention** (1907), setting out restrictions on the means and methods of warfare, and the four **Geneva Conventions** (**GCs**) (1949), providing protection to certain categories of vulnerable persons. These are the wounded and sick in armed forces in the field (GCI); the wounded, sick and shipwrecked members of armed forces at sea (GCII); prisoners of war (GCIII); and protected civilians (GC IV). The Fourth Geneva Convention is particularly relevant to humanitarian protection and assistance. It was established to prevent in future conflicts the scale of civilian suffering experienced during the two World Wars.

The two branches of law covered in the Hague and Geneva Conventions are further developed by the first two Protocols Additional to the Geneva Conventions on the protection of civilians (1977). These are referred to as **Additional Protocol I** (AP I), governing international armed conflict, and **Additional Protocol II** (AP II), governing non-international armed conflict.

The **four Geneva Conventions have achieved universal applicability** as they have been universally ratified. The Additional Protocols, however, have yet to achieve near-universal acceptance. The United States and several other significant military powers (e.g. Iran, Israel, India and Pakistan) are currently not parties to the protocols.

#### International custom

A comprehensive study by the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) on IHL and customary law indicates that **the majority of rules enshrined in treaty law** have received widespread acceptance and have had a far-reaching effect on practice. They thus **have the force of customary law**. Some provisions in the Hague and Geneva Conventions were reflections of existing customary law, whereas others have developed into customary law. They are therefore binding on all states regardless of ratification, and also on armed opposition groups in the case of non-international armed conflict (Henckaerts, 2005). The application of customary international law is particularly significant for non-international armed conflicts, as treaty law has remained limited in this area.

#### General principles of law

IHL recognises a number of *jus cogens* norms, from which no derogation is allowed, for example, prohibitions against genocide and torture.

Judicial decisions and the teachings of the most highly qualified publicists as subsidiary sources International courts have played a role in interpreting and developing IHL (examples are provided in this guide).

#### When does IHL apply?

International humanitarian law applies only to situations of armed conflict, but applies to all actors in an armed conflict. IHL distinguishes between international armed conflict and non-international armed conflict: a much more limited range of written rules apply to the latter. Although state practice continues to support this distinction, it has been criticised as arbitrary and impractical, given the nature

of current conflicts. However, the law has developed over the years to provide greater coverage of internal armed conflicts. Gaps in the regulation of the conduct of hostilities in AP II regulating non-international armed conflict have largely been filled through customary international law. Gaps remain in the protection framework in the aftermath of conflict. These can result in challenges in humanitarian protection and in the delivery of humanitarian assistance to populations still in need.

#### International armed conflict

IHL applies to **conflicts arising between sovereign states** (GCs common Art 2(1)) – including direct conflict between states, and situations in which a foreign power sends troops into a territory to support a local movement – and to situations of partial or total occupation (GCs common Art 2(2)). Additional Protocol I extends the field of application to 'armed conflicts in which peoples are fighting against colonial domination and alien occupation and against racist regimes in the exercise of their right of self-determination' (API, Art 1(4)).

#### Occupation without military presence – Israel and the Gaza Strip

The Geneva Conventions apply to any territory occupied during international armed conflict (Common article 2). Article 42 of the Hague Convention specifies that a 'territory is considered occupied when it is actually placed under the authority of the hostile army. The occupation extends only to the territory where such authority has been established and can be exercised.' As such, IHL relevant to occupied territories is applicable when a territory comes under the effective control of hostile armed forces. It can, however, be difficult in practice to identify and confirm such situations. Although Israel withdrew its military forces from the Gaza Strip in 2005, this physical withdrawal of forces was not considered enough to terminate Israel's 'effective control' of the territory, characteristic of occupation. This was attributed to various factors, such as the fact that the Disengagement Plan stated that Israel was to continue to exercise control over the borders of the territory and over its air space and coastal region. In addition, Israel maintained the advantage of being able to enter Palestinian territory at any time to maintain public order. The UN Secretary General thus concluded that it is possible to remain an occupying power, with consequent obligations, without a military presence on the ground (Vité, 2009).

#### Non-international armed conflict (NIAC)

**Article 3** common to the GCs applies in the case of 'armed conflict not of an international character', whether **between a state and a non-state armed group or between non-state armed groups**.

In order to be classified as a NIAC – and not a case of 'internal disturbances and tensions, such as riots, isolated and sporadic acts of violence' (GC common Article 3, APII Art 1) – such that Article 3 and APII are applicable, the International Criminal Tribunal for the Former-Yugoslavia has indicated that two factual criteria must be satisfied:

- The **violence** must reach a **certain level of intensity** that distinguishes it from situations of internal disturbances such as riots and isolated acts of violence
- The parties involved must demonstrate a certain level of organisation.

For the first criteria, factors to consider include the collective nature of the fighting and resort to armed force by the state, the duration of the conflict, the nature of the weapons, the frequency of attacks and the number of victims. For the second criteria, it is assumed that government forces automatically fulfil the requirement. As for non-state armed groups, elements to consider include the existence of a command structure and/or internal rules, and the ability to recruit and train new combatants (Vité, 2009).

**Article 1 of AP II** affirmed these criteria but set a higher threshold to fulfil the criteria of **parties** involved, adding that these groups should be able to **control part of a territory**. It also restricts its application to conflicts **between a state and a non-state armed group**. This is likely to result in many armed conflicts being covered by Common Article 3 but not AP II (Vité, 2009).

#### What are key provisions and principles of IHL applicable to civilian protection?

The Fourth Geneva Convention focuses on the civilian population. The two additional protocols adopted in 1977 extend and strengthen civilian protection in international (AP I) and non-international (AP II) armed conflict, for example by introducing the prohibition of direct attacks against civilians. A 'civilian' is defined as 'any person not belonging to the armed forces', including non-nationals and refugees (AP I, Art 50(1)).

#### IHL provisions and principles protecting civilians

- The principle of **distinction** protects civilian persons and civilian objects from the effects of military operations. It requires parties to an armed conflict to **distinguish at all times and under all circumstances between combatants and military objectives** on the one hand **and civilians and civilian objects** on the other and to only target the former. It also requires that civilians lose such protection should they take a direct part in hostilities (AP I, Arts 48, 51-52, 57; AP II, 13-16). The principle of distinction has also been found by the ICRC to be reflected in state practice and thus an established norm of customary international law in both international and non-international armed conflicts (ICRC, 2005b, vol 1).
- Necessity and proportionality are established principles introduced in humanitarian law. Under IHL, a belligerent can apply only the amount and kind of force necessary to defeat the enemy. Further, attacks on military objects must not cause loss of civilian life considered excessive in relation to the direct military advantage anticipated. (AP I, Arts 35, 51(5)). Every feasible precaution must be taken by commanders to avoid civilian causalities (AP 1, Arts 57, 58). The principle of proportionality has also been found by the ICRC to form part of customary international law in international and non-international armed conflicts (ICRC, 2005b, vol. 1).
- The principle of **humane treatment** requires that **civilians** are **treated humanely** at all **times** (GCIV, Art 27). Common Article 3 of the GCs prohibits violence to life and person (including cruel treatment and torture), the taking of hostages, humiliating and degrading treatment, and execution without regular trial against non-combatants, including persons *hors de combat* (wounded, sick and shipwrecked). Civilians are entitled to respect for their physical and mental

integrity, their honour, family rights, religious convictions and practices, and their manners and customs (API, Art 75(1)). This principle of humane treatment has been affirmed by the ICRC as a norm of customary international law applicable in both international and non-international armed conflicts (ICRC, 2005b, vol. 1).

- The principle of **non-discrimination** is a core principle of IHL. Adverse distinction based on race, nationality, religious belief or political opinion is prohibited in the treatment of prisoners of war (GCIII, Art 16), civilians (GCIV, Art 13, common Article 3) and persons *hors de combat* (common Article 3). All protected persons shall be treated with the same consideration by parties to the conflict, without distinction based on race, religion, sex or political opinion (common article 3, GCIV, Art 27). Each and every person affected by armed conflict is **entitled to his/her fundamental rights and guarantees, without discrimination** (API, Art 75(1)). The prohibition against adverse distinction is also considered by the ICRC to form part of customary international law in international and non-international armed conflict (ICRC, 2005b, vol. 1).
- Women and children are granted preferential treatment, respect and protection. Women must be protected from rape or any form of indecent assault. Children under the age of 18 must not be allowed to take part in hostilities (GCIV, Arts 24, 27; API, Arts 76-78; APII, Art 4(3)).

IHL provisions relevant to humanitarian assistance are discussed in the section of this guide on *Humanitarian Principles and Humanitarian Assistance*.

#### How are gender and culture treated in IHL?

#### Gender

IHL emphasises in various provisions in the GCs and APs the concept of formal equality and non-discrimination: protections should be provided 'without any adverse distinction founded on sex'. For example, with regard to female prisoners of war, women are required to receive treatment 'as favourable as that granted to men' (GCIII, Arts 14, 16). In addition to claims of formal equality, IHL mandates special protections to women, for example providing female prisoners of war with separate dormitories from men (GCIII, Art 25); and prohibiting sexual violence against women (GCIV, Art27; API, Art 76(2); APII, Art 4(2)).

However, the reality of women's and men's lived experiences of conflict has highlighted some of the gender limitations of IHL. Feminist critics have challenged IHL's focus on male combatants and its relegation of women to the status of victims or granting them legitimacy solely as child-rearers: a study of the 42 provisions relating to women within the Geneva Conventions and the Additional Protocols found that almost half address women who are expectant or nursing mothers (Gardam and Jarvis, cited in Durham and O'Bryne, 2010). Others have argued that the issue of sexual violence against men in conflict has not yet received the attention it deserves (Lewis, cited in Durham and O'Bryne, 2010).

Applying a gender perspective to interpretations of IHL is important so as to consider the diverse experiences of both women and men in conflict situations. This can help to avoid the assumption, along with other forms of stereotyping, that women are mostly 'victims' and 'losers' in conflict and that men are always the 'aggressors' or 'winners'.

'Soft law' has been relied on to supplement the protection of women in armed conflict. This includes: UN Security Council Resolutions 1888 and 1889 (2009), which aim to enhance the protection of women and

children against sexual violations in armed conflict; and Resolution 1325, which aims to improve the participation of women in post-conflict peacebuilding. Read together with other legal mechanisms, in particular the UN Convention for the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), these can enhance interpretation and implementation of IHL. In addition, international criminal tribunals (e.g. the International Criminal Tribunals for the former Yugoslavia and Rwanda) and mixed tribunals (e.g. the Special Court for Sierra Leone) have contributed to expanding the scope of definitions of sexual violence and rape in conflict. They have effectively prosecuted sexual and gender-based crimes committed during armed conflict: there is now well-established jurisprudence on gender-based crimes. Nonetheless, there remains an urgent need to further develop constructions of gender within international humanitarian law (see Barrow, 2010).

#### **Culture**

IHL has generally not been subject to the same debates and criticisms of 'cultural relativism' as international human rights. Although the modern codification of IHL in the Geneva Conventions and the Additional Protocols are relatively new and European in name, the core concepts are not new and laws relating to warfare can be found in all cultures. ICRC studies (on the Middle East, Somalia, Latin America, and the Pacific, for example) have found that there are traditional and long-standing practices in various cultures that preceded, but are generally consistent with, modern IHL. It is important to respect local and cultural practices that are in line with IHL. Relying on these links and on local practices can help to promote awareness of and adherence to IHL principles among local groups and communities.

Durham (2008) cautions, however, that although traditional practices and IHL legal norms are largely compatible, it is important not to assume perfect alignment: there are areas in which legal norms and cultural practices clash. For example, violence against women is frequently legitimised by arguments of culture, yet is prohibited in IHL and other international law. In such cases, it is important to ensure that IHL is not negatively affected.

#### Overlapping Areas of Law – Toward a Comprehensive Legal Framework

Different areas of international law – primarily international human rights law, international refugee law and international criminal law – can operate at the same time as IHL, combining to create a comprehensive legal framework for protection and assistance. It is now generally accepted that human rights law applies during armed conflict as well as in peacetime. Civilians are often displaced as a result of armed conflict, resulting in the possibility of simultaneous application of international refugee law and IHL. International criminal law and IHL are also linked. IHL provides that persons may be held individually criminally responsible for 'grave breaches' of the Geneva Conventions, of Additional Protocol I and for other serious violations of the laws and customs of war (war crimes). The statutes of international criminal tribunals have established jurisdiction over war crimes.

#### International human rights law

International human rights law (IHRL) comprises a set of rules, established by treaty or customary law, which outlines the obligations and duties of states to respect, to protect and to fulfil human rights. It enables individuals and groups to claim certain behaviour or benefits from government. These formal legal undertakings are based on recognition that individuals have such inherent rights (Darcy, 1997).

Whereas IHL binds all parties to armed conflicts (states and organised armed groups), human rights law regulates states in their relations with individuals or groups of individuals under their jurisdiction. There is ongoing debate about whether organised armed groups (particularly those that exercise government-like functions) should also be obligated under human rights law.

IHRL's main treaty sources are the International Covenants on Civil and Political Rights and on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (1966). Other sources include the Conventions on:

- Genocide (1948)
- Racial Discrimination (1965)
- Discrimination against Women (1979)
- Torture (1984)
- Rights of the Child (1989)
- Persons with Disabilities (2006).

The main regional instruments are: the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (1950); the American Declaration of the Rights and Duties of Man (1948) and Convention on Human Rights (1969); and the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights (1981).

#### Human rights, humanitarianism and IHL

Human rights, humanitarianism (the humanitarian tradition) and IHL are linked: they are universal in their application and based on **recognition of shared humanity**. Three fundamental principles common to human rights law and humanitarian law are inviolability, non-discrimination and security of the person (Pictet, 1975, p. 34). These principles are the basis of a number of human rights and IHL rules, such as the right to life/protection of human life, the prohibition of torture or any inhuman or degrading treatment, the prohibition of discrimination, and basic rights to a fair trial.

Human rights, humanitarianism and IHL are also linked to **human need**, although human rights are concerned more broadly with safeguarding comprehensive aspects of an individual's physical, economic, political and social security. It is the **public and political aspect of human rights** that has often made humanitarian workers and IHL lawyers wary of delving into this area for **fear of compromising the neutrality of humanitarian work** (Darcy, 1997).

Nonetheless, there has in recent years been growing discussion of the benefits of a **rights-based approach to humanitarian assistance**. A rights-based approach redefines recipients of assistance, both women and men, as active subjects and rights-holders with entitlements (and obligations) rather than as passive victims and recipients of charity. It is designed to highlight recipients' voices, identifying their needs and priorities. It is also designed to produce a relationship of responsibility and accountability between humanitarian agencies and the people they serve, or between these same individuals and their government (Concannon and Lindstrom, 2011). The UNHCR (the UN's Refugee Agency), for example, has – along with its partners – taken steps to ensure that humanitarian assistance is organically linked with protection. Protection is defined by the Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC), which co-ordinates humanitarian assistance across agencies, as 'all activities aimed at obtaining full respect for the rights of the individual in accordance with the letter and spirit of the relevant bodies of law, namely human rights law, international humanitarian law and refugee law'.

#### The interplay of IHL and IHRL

While international humanitarian law only applies during armed conflict, human rights do not cease to be applicable in armed conflicts. Human rights treaties, however, allow states to derogate from certain rights during a public emergency that threatens the nation (including a state of war), provided they fulfil certain preconditions and follow specified procedures. Some rights, though, (such as the right to life, freedom from torture, freedom of thought, equality and non-discrimination) can never be suspended. IHL does not allow for derogation.

The concurrent application of international humanitarian law and international human rights law has been expressly recognised by various international tribunals, including the International Court of Justice, the European Court of Human Rights and the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights. The ICJ observed in its 1996 advisory opinion on the *Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons* that 'the protection of the International Covenant on Civil and Political [ICCPR] rights does not cease in times of war' (apart from in situations of derogation).

The relationship between IHL and IHRL is thus considered to be one of complementarity (although also one of specificity, as will be discussed). Their concurrent application often leads to the same result and has the potential to offer greater individual protections (Droege, 2008). Each can enhance the other body of law to strengthen areas of relative weakness. For example, the provisions for a fair trial in IHL are vague, but IHRL can provide guidance and interpret the rules in question. It is also helpful to rely on IHRL in situations of internal armed conflict, where the treaty rules of IHL are limited (ICRC, 2005a).

The concurrent application of IHL and IHRL also raises some **challenges**, however. This is particularly so where there may be a **conflict in norms**, for example concerning the right to life. What constitutes an 'unlawful killing' may be very different under IHL than under IHRL. IHL permits lawful killing of combatants and adopts principles of proportionality, which allows for permissible 'collateral damage', whereas IHRL has stricter requirements on the protection of life (Iguyovwe, 2008). In order to address such challenges, the ICJ articulated in its advisory opinion on the *Legality of the Threat or Use* of *Nuclear Weapons* the **principle of** *lex specialis*, stating that:

whether a particular loss of life, through the use of a certain weapon in warfare, is to be considered an arbitrary deprivation of life contrary to Article 6 of the Covenant [ICCPR], can only be decided by reference to the law applicable in armed conflict and not deduced from the terms of the Covenant itself (para 25).

The Court expanded on this position in its 2004 advisory opinion on the *Legal Consequences of the Construction of a Wall in the Occupied Palestinian Territory,* stating that where matters fall under both IHL and IHRL:

the Court will have to take into consideration both these branches of international law, namely human rights law and, as lex specialis, international humanitarian law (para 106).

#### What is Lex Specialis? How is it applied?

The application of the principle of *lex specialis* is still highly debated. Nonetheless, some scholars have likened the principle to a conflict-solving rule. Where the adoption of two different approaches is possible and legitimate but may result in conflicting outcomes, it gives precedence to the approach/rule that is most adapted and tailored to the specific situation. In the case of IHL and IHRL, the principle means that under certain circumstances, the specific rules of human rights law are applied by reference to IHL standards. The closer the situation is to the battlefield, the more humanitarian law will take precedence, and vice versa. Relevant criteria could include the duration of combats, the type of weaponry used and the degree of armed resistance (Greenwood, 2010; Droege, 2008).

#### International refugee law

The 1951 Convention on the Status of Refugees provides the foundation for international refugee law. It defines a 'refugee' as someone who is externally displaced through a 'well-founded fear of being persecuted for reasons of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion' (Art 1). Although the Refugee Convention does not include an explicit reference to sex and/or gender, the importance of gender in shaping the experiences of refugees is increasingly recognised.

The absence of effective national protection results in the need for international protection. International refugee law applies to states that are party to the relevant treaties and to all states under customary law. Internally displaced persons, who remain within the borders of their own country, are subject to national law and applicable international law such as IHL and IHRL. IHL and IHRL are incorporated in binding regional instruments as applicable and as reflected in the *Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement* (1998). While not part of binding treaty law, the Guiding Principles establish standards for the protection of IDPs. It can be challenging, however, to encourage states to comply with non-binding frameworks. In recent years, there have been significant developments in elaborating binding legislative frameworks – including, for example, the codification of the African Union Convention for the Protection and Assistance of IDPs in Africa, and the Great Lakes Protocol on the Protection and Assistance to IDPs.

#### The interplay of IHL and international refugee law

Refugees caught up in armed conflict are protected under both IHL and international refugee law. Article 5 of the Refugee Convention allows for the concurrent application of the Convention and other instruments granting rights and benefits to refugees. IHL and refugee law can also apply successively. The existence of an armed conflict is not in itself sufficient criteria to qualify someone as a refugee under the Convention. Where a victim of armed conflict is forced to leave his or her country due to violations of IHL (or IHRL), however, such violations can form part of the refugee definition and become a key factor in triggering refugee protection (Jaquemet, 2001). This may be more likely where armed conflicts have an ethnic or religious dimension, as it could trigger the condition of fleeing because of fear of persecution (ICRC, 2005a). In situations where armed elements are engaging in severe violations of IHL, this could be sufficient to accept that all civilians belonging to or associated with the 'enemy' side will have a well-founded fear of persecution, without having to engage in individual determinations (Jaquemet, 2001).

Another area of overlap is exclusion. Individuals who have engaged in certain violations of IHL amounting to war crimes may be excluded from entitlement to protection as a refugee (ICRC, 2005a).

#### Prevention of displacement and protection of refugees under IHL

- Prohibition of forced displacement: Parties to a conflict are expressly prohibited from forcibly moving civilians, whether in cases of occupation (GCIV, Art 49) or non-international armed conflicts (APII, Art 17). There is an exemption under exceptional circumstances (where the security of the civilian population involved or imperative military reasons so demand). Violations of these provisions are war crimes under international criminal law (ICC Statute, Art 8).
- Protection from the effects of hostilities in order to prevent displacement: The prohibitions against targeting civilians and civilian property/objects, as well as duties to take precautions to spare the civilian population, are also aimed at preventing displacement (ICRC, 2005a).
- Protection during displacement: IHL provisions that seek to protect displaced and legally evacuated civilians include the need to ensure that any necessary evacuations are carried out under satisfactory conditions of hygiene, health, safety and nutrition; and that the displaced have appropriate accommodation and that families are not separated. Refugees also benefit from protections afforded to aliens in the territory of a party to a conflict under the GCIV (ICRC, 2005a).

Article 9 of the 1951 Convention allows for derogation from treaty provisions in times of war. Unlike international human rights law, the Convention does not provide for certain non-derogable rights. IHL can therefore be a particularly important safeguard in such situations.

#### Protection of refugees and displaced persons under IHRL

The core human right that applies to issues of displacement is the freedom of movement, specific in the ICCPR (Article 12). It has three elements: (i) freedom of movement within a country in which one is lawfully resident; (ii) freedom to leave any country; and (iii) the right to return to one's country. Similarly to IHL, this human rights provision outlaws forced displacement other than on exceptional grounds (such as to protect national security, public order or public health). Other related rights and entitlements include the freedom to choose one's residence, freedom from arbitrary interference in one's home, and the right to housing.

Human rights law has been particularly important to the development of policies that deal with IDPs, who are not afforded protection under international refugee law. The *Guiding Principles for Internally Displaced Persons* bring together existing human rights and humanitarian law alongside the framework for refugee law.

#### International criminal law

The International Criminal Court (ICC), the *ad hoc* International Criminal Tribunals for the former Yugoslavia and Rwanda (ICTY and ICTR), and hybrid tribunals have jurisdiction over violations of rights committed within and outside armed conflict – in particular war crimes, genocide and crimes against humanity. Crimes against humanity involve systematic and widespread violations of human rights.

Under IHL, serious violations of common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions and AP II (governing non-international armed conflict) did not incur individual criminal liability. However, the ICTY and the ICTR have established that their jurisdiction covers both international and non-international armed conflicts. Based on this practice, the Statute of the ICC explicitly extends individual accountability to war crimes committed in internal armed conflicts. This includes individual accountability for rape as a constituent offence of crimes against humanity.

In order to prosecute war crimes, the existence of an armed conflict must be established. The Appeals Chamber of the ICTY in the *Tadić* case specified an armed conflict to 'exist whenever there is a resort to armed force between States or protracted armed violence between governmental authorities and organized armed groups or between such groups within a State' (*Prosecutor v. Tadić*, 1995). With regard to the distinctions between international and non-international armed conflict, the ICTY has also found that certain norms of international armed conflict are applicable to non-international armed conflicts based on customary international law. For further discussion of international criminal law, see this guide's section on *Compliance with and Enforcement of International Humanitarian Law*.

#### **Humanitarian Principles and Humanitarian Assistance**

The volume of humanitarian assistance has increased significantly since the end of the Cold War, alongside the number of actors providing such assistance. Humanitarian actors are expected to base their assistance on certain fundamental humanitarian principles. They can also seek guidance for their work in various sources of international humanitarian law.

#### What are humanitarian principles?

In the broadest sense, humanitarian principles are rooted in international humanitarian law. In a more narrow sense, they are the principles devised to guide the work of humanitarian actors (Mackintosh, 2000). These principles are widely recognised as: humanity, neutrality, impartiality and independence.

- Humanity: Human suffering must be addressed whenever it is found. The
  purpose of humanitarian action is to protect life and health and ensure respect
  for human beings.
- Neutrality: Humanitarian actors must not take sides in hostilities or engage in controversies of a political, racial, religious or ideological nature.
- Impartiality: Humanitarian action must be carried out on the basis of need alone, giving priority to the most urgent cases of distress and making no distinctions on the basis of nationality, race, gender, religious belief, class or political opinions.
- Operational Independence: Humanitarian action must be autonomous from the political, economic, military or other objectives that any actors may hold with regard to areas where humanitarian action is being implemented.

The UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA)

#### How are humanitarian principles treated in IHL?

The right to humane treatment is at the core of IHL. It is a basic obligation codified in various provisions of the Geneva Conventions and its Additional Protocols, in particular Article 27 of the Fourth Geneva Convention protecting civilians and in common Article 3 governing non-international conflicts. As noted earlier (in the Overview of IHL), it is also considered to be a norm under customary international law.

The law of neutrality, which stems from state practice and the Hague Conventions, is defined in international law as 'the status of a state which is not participating in an armed conflict between other states' (Bothe, 2008, p. 571). It encompasses the right not to be 'adversely affected' and the duty of nonparticipation. Under the Hague Convention V, humanitarian assistance for the sick of wounded is not considered to be a violation of neutrality even if it benefits only the sick and wounded from one party to the conflict (Art 14).

In more recent times, there have been concerns that diversion of humanitarian assistance and misuse of aid by parties to international and non-international conflicts can undermine the neutrality of assistance, in terms of non-participation in hostilities (direct and indirect). While neutrality is not specifically mentioned in the Geneva Conventions or Additional Protocols, there are provisions that can relate to aspects of neutrality. Article 23 of the Fourth Geneva Convention obliges a party to allow free passage of goods through its territory intended for the civilians of another party to the conflict. However, this is only enforceable if the obligated party has no reason for fearing that these goods may be diverted or that they may result in a military advantage to the enemy. Proper control by the humanitarian organisation transporting the goods is considered essential to ensure that the goods do not indirectly advance one side of the conflict (Mackintosh, 2000).

Impartiality is needs-based provision of assistance, incorporating non-discrimination and the absence of subjective distinctions (e.g. whether an individual is innocent or guilty) (Pictet, 1958 and 1979). As noted in the Overview of IHL, the principle of non-discrimination is a core principle in IHL. Various provisions of the Geneva Conventions and Additional Protocols state the importance of equal treatment of protected persons without distinction and entitlement to fundamental rights without discrimination.

#### Classification as humanitarian assistance denied due to partiality the provision of aid to the Contras in Nicaragua

During the 1980s, the United States government provided assistance to the Contras, a militia group that was opposed to the Sandinista government of Nicaragua. The government accused the US of violating international law by intervening in the internal affairs of Nicaragua. One of the defences provided by the US was that it was providing humanitarian assistance. The International Court of Justice affirmed that humanitarian assistance is not contrary to international law, but that the assistance the US provided was not humanitarian by nature. The aim of its assistance was not to prevent and alleviate human suffering. Moreover, it was provided in a discriminatory fashion, only to the *Contras* and their dependents. As such, it did not satisfy the criteria required to qualify as humanitarian assistance.

Nicaragua vs. US – Case Concerning Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua (Merits), ICJ Reports 1986

#### How is humanitarian assistance treated in IHL: What duties and rights exist?

The Geneva Conventions and Additional Protocols do not define 'humanitarian assistance' but provide a basic description of the rights and responsibilities of parties to the conflict and the potential role for humanitarian agencies. The provision of relief to civilian populations falls within the scope of the Fourth Geneva Convention, the two Additional Protocols and common Article 3. This includes the supply of foodstuffs, medical supplies and clothing (GCIV, Art 59), distribution of materials for educational, recreational or religious purposes (GCIV, Art 108) and measures to protect civilians and assist them to 'recover from the immediate effects, of hostilities or disasters and also to provide conditions necessary for [their] survival' (API, Art 61).

Since the conventions and protocols are addressed to states, they do not directly confer rights or obligations upon humanitarian agencies. Provisions in the GCs and APs describe situations in which states must allow humanitarian assistance to be delivered to civilians in their power, the forms of assistance that are entitled to protection, and the conditions which states are allowed to impose on their delivery (Mackintosh, 2000). These provisions are relevant and useful to humanitarian agencies as they provide insight and guidance into the conditions that they must meet should they seek to provide assistance. They also provide tools to argue for and to secure humanitarian access and cooperation from states, other parties to the conflict and countries that fall under the transit route for delivery of assistance.

#### Duty of state parties and role of humanitarian organisations

Under IHL, the parties to the conflict have the duty and primary responsibility to provide humanitarian assistance to civilians and civilian populations under their control. There are, however, also provisions that allow for the possibility (with certain conditions) of humanitarian organisations undertaking relief actions. The rules on humanitarian access and assistance can be distinguished by type of conflict:

#### International armed conflict (situations of occupation)

Articles 55 and 56 of GCIV provide that the occupying power has the duty to ensure food, medical supplies, medical and hospital establishments and services, and public health and hygiene to populations in the occupied territory. This duty was extended in AP I to include the duty to ensure bedding, means of shelter and other supplies essential to the survival of the civilian population (Art 69). Article 59 of the GCIV further states that:

If the whole or part of the population of an occupied territory is inadequately supplied the Occupying Power shall agree to relief schemes on behalf of the said population, and shall facilitate them [...] Such schemes, which may be undertaken either by States or by impartial humanitarian organisations such as the International Committee of the Red Cross, shall consist, in particular, of the provision of consignments of foodstuffs, medical supplies and clothing.

National Red Cross Societies or other relief societies 'shall be able to pursue their activities' in accordance with Red Cross principles<sup>1</sup> or under 'similar conditions' (respectively), subject to 'temporary and exceptional measures imposed for urgent reasons of security' (GCIV, Art 63).

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Red Cross fundamental principles encompass: humanity, impartiality, neutrality, independence, universality, voluntary service and unity. They are seen as an ethical framework for humanitarian action.

Thus, in situations of occupation, the obligation of occupying authorities to facilitate and cooperate with relief schemes is unconditional. There is a relatively wide space provided to humanitarian organisations, provided that they are impartial and operate in accordance to humanitarian principles. Article 59 of GCIV allows occupying authorities to retain a certain 'right of control', however, such as the right to search the relief consignments, to regulate their passage and to ensure that they are directed at the population in need (Beauchamp, 2008).

#### International armed conflict (outside of occupation)

Article 70(1) of API states that if the civilian population under the control of a party to the conflict is not adequately provided with relief supplies, 'relief actions which are humanitarian and impartial in character and conducted without any adverse distinction shall be undertaken'. This is, however, subject to the agreement of the parties concerned with such actions (see box below).

Additional provisions require that civilians are enabled to receive the necessary assistance. State parties are obligated to allow free and rapid passage of all relief consignments, equipment and personnel, regardless of whether they are being delivered to the civilian population of the enemy (GCIV, Art 23; API, Art 70(2)).

#### Non-international armed conflict

Provisions on humanitarian assistance are the least developed in this context. Common Article 3 simply provides that 'an impartial humanitarian body, such as the [ICRC], may offer its services to the Parties to the conflict'.

Article 18(1) of Additional Protocol II adds that domestic relief societies, such as National Red Cross/Red Crescent Societies, may 'offer their services' as may the civilian population itself. International relief is addressed in Article 18(2), which states that where the civilian population 'is suffering undue hardship owing to a lack of supplies essential for its survival, such as foodstuffs and medical supplies, relief actions [...] of an exclusively humanitarian and impartial nature and which are conducted without any adverse distinction shall be undertaken'. Similar to the international conflicts outside of occupation, this is subject the consent of the state party concerned (see box below). In this context, it entails the state giving consent for assistance to the insurgent side. Although it is difficult to determine the threshold of 'undue hardship', ICRC commentary on the Additional Protocols suggests that the 'usual standard of living of the population concerned' should be taken into consideration (p. 1479).

For discussion on provision of humanitarian assistance to areas outside of government control and negotiating access with non-state parties to a conflict, see this guide's section on IHL and Humanitarian Assistance Involving Non-State Armed Groups.

# The issue of state consent to relief actions (outside of occupation) – reliance on international customary law

The combination of statements that relief actions 'shall be undertaken' but with the agreement or consent of state parties has resulted in debate over the extent to which parties to both international and non-international armed conflicts are obligated to accept assistance. State practice, however, does not emphasise the requirement of consent. The view is that so long as there is humanitarian need and organisations and relief actions meet the requisites of being humanitarian and impartial in character and without adverse distinction, governments cannot arbitrarily refuse assistance. This is particularly the case in extreme situations, where a lack of supplies would result in starvation. Article 54 of AP I prohibits the starvation of civilians as a method of combat. The ICRC's study found that it was a norm of customary international law in international and non-international conflicts that governments cannot arbitrarily refuse assistance. Even in cases outside of starvation, the study also found that parties to the conflict are obligated to allow and facilitate humanitarian assistance in any kind of conflict where civilians are in need (subject to their right to exercise control over relief actions). This is based on practice in the field, various UN resolutions and other sources. While this position has been supported by various scholars, there is still debate on the issue. The work of the International Law Commission on customary law in the context of disasters also aims to establish a norm of state responsibility to not arbitrarily refuse assistance – see this guide's section on recent developments in IDRL (ICRC 2005b; Pejic, 2011; Mackintosh, 2000).

#### Right of civilians to receive assistance

While most provisions are expressed in terms of the duties of parties to the conflict to provide or allow for relief, Article 30 of the Fourth Geneva Conventions grants protected persons 'every facility for making application to [international and national relief organisations] that might assist them'. There is debate about whether these provisions can translate into a right to (appeal for) assistance. In addition, Article 62 provides that 'protected persons in occupied territories shall be permitted to receive the individual relief consignments sent to them', subject to security issues.

There is **support for such civilian entitlements under customary international law**. There is practice that indicates not only that parties to the conflict are obligated to accept humanitarian assistance but that also points to recognition that civilians in need are entitled to receive humanitarian relief necessary to their survival (ICRC, 2005b; Spieker, 2012).

#### How is humanitarian assistance regulated under IHL?

IHL offers some **specific rules on access and delivery** of humanitarian assistance in international armed conflicts. For example, it outlines the obligations of domestic authorities concerning the transfer of relief consignments; restricts the possibility of their diversion; and regulates the participation of humanitarian personnel. The aim is to reduce 'red tape' as much as possible and allow for the speedy delivery of relief to protected persons.

- Parties to an international armed conflict and other transit states are required to allow free passage to medical supplies, items for religious worship, and religious goods intended for civilians of other parties to the conflict, even if from the enemy side. They must also allow 'consignments of essential foodstuffs, clothing and tonics intended for children under fifteen, expectant mothers and maternity cases'. This is subject to the condition that the party is satisfied that the consignments are unlikely to be diverted, particularly for military purposes (GCIV, Art 23).
- Such consignments must be forwarded as quickly as possible, subject to 'technical arrangements' under the control of the power permitting free passage (GCIV, Art 23). The ICRC Commentary to the Fourth Geneva Convention interprets 'technical arrangements' as allowing the state party to check the consignments and to arrange for their delivery at particular times and on particular routes.
- Relief consignments must be 'exempt in occupied territory from all charges, taxes or customs duties unless these are necessary in the interests of the economy of the territory'. In addition, the occupying power must facilitate their free passage and rapid distribution (GCIV, Art 61). These duties apply not only to the occupying power, but also to states of transit.
- Humanitarian organisations must be granted all facilities possible such that they can carry out their humanitarian functions (GCIV, Art 30).

There are few treaty rules that address conditions of access and delivery of humanitarian assistance in non-international armed conflicts. The ICRC's customary law study asserts, however, that there is **enough practice to justify extending the requirement that the party in control must facilitate free passage and rapid distribution of relief in situations of occupation to other situations of international and internal conflict.** In addition, this study notes that the freedom of movement of authorised relief personnel essential to fulfil their humanitarian functions is required under customary international law (ICRC, 2005b). It is still debatable, however, whether there is enough practice to find a 'right to access' under customary law (Spieker, 2011).

#### The treatment of vulnerable groups

Another important aspect of the regulation of protection and humanitarian assistance is addressing the special needs of vulnerable groups. This entails both non-discrimination and positive measures to ensure that these special needs are addressed in relief actions. Parties to the conflict are specifically obligated to:

 Grant children, expectant mothers, maternity cases and nursing mothers special treatment and protection and to give them priority in the distribution of relief consignments (API, Art 70(1))

- Provide for free passage of 'essential foodstuffs, clothing and tonics intended for children under fifteen, expectant mothers and maternity cases' (GCIV, Art 23)
- Provide children with the care and aid needed, which is a fundamental guarantee of human treatment (APII, Art 4(3))
- Ensure that children under fifteen who are orphaned or separated from their families are provided with 'maintenance', access to education and the ability to exercise religion (GCIV, Art 24).

#### **Protection of humanitarian workers**

Civilian personnel involved in humanitarian assistance are subject to the **general protections applicable to civilians** of states not party to the conflict. They are also granted specific protections. Various provisions in the Geneva Conventions and Additional Protocols prohibit attacks upon medical units, hospitals and medical personnel. Additional Protocol I extends **specific protection to all relief personnel**, obligating states to ensure the respect and protection of relief workers (Art 71(2)). This same provision is not contained in Additional Protocol II. The ICRC's customary law study found, however, that such requirements are part of international customary law and thus also apply in non-international armed conflicts (ICRC, 2005b). This conclusion is reinforced by the protections afforded to humanitarian personnel and objects under the Convention on the Safety of United Nations and Associated Personnel and the inclusion of deliberate attacks against 'personnel, installations, material, units or vehicles involved in a humanitarian assistance' as a war crime in international and internal armed conflicts in the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court (Article 8(2)).

# Attacks against humanitarian personnel in Darfur – violations of various aspects of IHL

The conflict in Darfur that began in 2003 (and concluded with the 2011 Darfur Peace Agreement) was considered to be primarily a civil war. As such the applicable IHL rules comprised of common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions, AP II, and customary law. During the conflict, there were frequent reports of military attacks against humanitarian personnel and vehicles from all parties to the conflict, which hindered the delivery of humanitarian assistance. These acts were considered by reporting agencies, including the UN Security Monitoring Panel on Sudan, to be likely breaches of IHL for the following reasons: (1.) such military attacks are contrary to the prohibition of targeting civilians and civilian objects; (2.) attacking humanitarian relief personnel and objects used for humanitarian relief operations is specifically prohibited; (3.) starvation of the civilian population (by hindering relief operations), if conducted intentionally as a method of warfare, is also prohibited; and (4.) even if there is no deliberate attempt to cause starvation (and/or no risk of starvation), such attacks could still be a violation of IHL if they are contrary to the requirements of proportionality and adoption of precautionary measures (Yihdego, 2009).

#### What is the relevance of human rights law to humanitarian assistance?

With a few exceptions, the key human rights instruments do not explicitly refer to international humanitarian assistance. As such, it can be argued that there is no general right to receive such assistance under IHRL. Others emphasise that international and regional human rights instruments set out many related rights, such as the rights to life, food, housing, clothing, health livelihood, and an adequate standard of living. The International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights is particularly relevant. State parties to this treaty are obligated to use the maximum of their available resources – including international assistance – to progressively achieve the full realisation of the rights recognised in the Covenant. While the right to life could indicate a minimal right to assistance, the various economic and social rights guaranteed in international human rights law can create the legal space for individuals to claim the right to humanitarian assistance, with corresponding obligations on the part of states to provide such assistance. However, this argument remains contested (Fisher, 2007).

#### References

#### **Key texts**

- Henckaerts, J.M. (2005) Study on customary international humanitarian law: A contribution to the understanding and respect for the rule of law in armed conflict. International Review of the Red Cross, 87(857), 175-212. http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/irrc 857 henckaerts.pdf
- Iguyovwe, R. (2008). The inter-play between international humanitarian law and international human rights law. Commonwealth Law Bulletin, 34, 749-789. http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/03050710802521531
- Fisher, D. (2007). Domestic regulation of international humanitarian relief in disasters and armed conflict: a comparative analysis. International Review of the Red Cross, 89(866), 345-372.
  - http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/irrc 866 fisher.pdf
- Jaquemet, S. (2001). The cross-fertilization of international humanitarian law and international refugee law. International Review of the Red Cross, 83(843), 651-674. http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/651-674\_jaquemet.pdf
- Mackintosh, K. (2000). The principles of humanitarian action in international humanitarian law. London: Overseas Development Institute. http://www.odi.org.uk/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinionfiles/305.pdf

Alvarez-Jiménez, A. (2011). Methods for the identification of customary international law in the International Court of Justice's jurisprudence: 2000-2009. *International and Comparative Law Quarterly*, 60, 681-712.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0020589311000273

Barrow, A. (2010). UN Security Council Resolutions 1325 and 1820: constructing gender in armed conflict and international humanitarian law. *International Review of the Red Cross*, 92(877), 221-234. http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/irrc-877-barrow.pdf

Beauchamp, S. (2008). *Defining the humanitarian space through public international law*. Canadian Red Cross and Liu Institute for Global Issues.

http://humansecuritygateway.com/documents/CRC\_LIGI\_definingthehumanitarianspacethroughpublicIH L.pdf

Bothe, M. (2008). The law of neutrality. In D. Fleck (Ed.), *The handbook of international humanitarian law* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.) (pp. 571-604). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Campanelli, D. (2008). The law of military occupation put to the test of human rights law. *International Review of the Red Cross*, *90*(871), 653-668.

http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/irrc-871-campenalli.pdf

Concannon, B. and Lindstrom, B. (2011). Cheaper, better, longer-lasting: a rights-based approach to disaster response in Haiti. *Emory International Law Review*, *25*, 1145-1192.

http://www.law.emory.edu/fileadmin/journals/eilr/25/25.3/Concannon\_Lindstrom.pdf

Darcy, J. (1997). *Human rights and international legal standards : what do relief workers need to know?* London: Overseas Development Institute.

http://www.odi.org.uk/publications/1567-human-rights-international-legal-standards-relief-workers-need-know

De Beco, G. (2008). War crimes in international versus non-international armed conflicts: 'New wine in old wineskins'. *International Criminal Law Review*, 8(1-2), 319-329.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1163/156753608X265312

Droege, C. (2008). Elective affinities? Human rights and humanitarian law. *International Review of the Red Cross*, *90*(871), 501-548.

http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/irrc-871-droege1.pdf

Durham, H. and O'Byrne, K. (2010). The dialogue of difference: gender perspectives on international humanitarian law. *International Review of the Red Cross*, 92(877), 31-52.

http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/irrc-877-durham-obyrne.pdf

Durham, H. (2008). The laws of war and traditional cultures: a case study of the Pacific region *Commonwealth Law Bulletin, 34*, 833-841.

http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/03050710802521614

Greenwood, C. (2008). Scope of application of humanitarian law. In D. Fleck (Ed.), *The handbook of international humanitarian law* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.) (pp. 45-78). Oxford: Oxford University Press

ICRC (2005a). *Humanitarian law, human rights and refugee law – three pillars*. Geneva: ICRC. http://www.icrc.org/eng/resources/documents/misc/6t7g86.htm

Pejic, J. (2011). The protective scope of Common Article 3: more than meets the eye. *International Review of the Red Cross, 93*(881), 189-225.

http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/review/2011/irrc-881-pejic.pdf

Pictet, J. (1975). *Humanitarian law and the protection of war victims*. Leyden/Geneva: Sijthoff/Henry Dunant Institute.

Prost, M. and Clark, P. K. (2006). Unity, diversity and the fragmentation of international law: How much does the multiplication of international organizations really matter?. *Chinese Journal of International Law*, *5*, 341-360.

http://chinesejil.oxfordjournals.org/content/5/2/341.abstract

Spieker, H. (2012). Humanitarian assistance, access in armed conflict and occupation. In *Max Planck Encyclopedia of Public International Law*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

http://lawin.org/mpepil-international-humanitarian-law/

Spieker, H. (2011). The right to give and receive humanitarian assistance. In H.-J. Heintze and A. Zwitter (Eds.), *International law and humanitarian assistance* (pp. 7-31). Heidelberg: Springer.

Vité, S. (2009). Typology of armed conflicts in international humanitarian law: legal concepts and actual situations. *International Review of the Red Cross, 91*(873), 69-94.

http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/irrc-873-vite.pdf

Yihdego, Z. (2009). Darfur and humanitarian law: the protection of civilians and civilian objects. *Journal of Conflict and Security Law, 14*, 37-69.

http://jcsl.oxfordjournals.org/content/14/1/37.short

#### Resources

#### International humanitarian law

- The ICRC 's Treaty Database (1865–current) http://www.icrc.org/ihl
- Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/publications/icrc-002-0173.pdf
- Additional Protocols of 8 June 1977
  - Protocol I: http://www.icrc.org/ihl.nsf/WebList?ReadForm&id=470&t=art
  - Protocol II: http://www.icrc.org/ihl.nsf/WebList?ReadForm&id=475&t=art
- ICRC (2012). Summary of the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 and their Additional Protocols: In Brief. Geneva: ICRC http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/publications/icrc-002-0368.pdf
- ICRC Commentary on the Geneva Conventions, Volumes I-IV (1952-1959)
   http://www.icrc.org/eng/resources/documents/publication/p0203.htm

- ICRC Commentary on the Additional Protocols http://www.icrc.org/eng/resources/documents/publication/p0421.htm
- ICRC Factsheet on the Additional Protocols
   http://www.icrc.org/eng/resources/documents/misc/additional-protocols-links-080607.htm
- ICRC (2005b). Customary international humanitarian law, Cambridge University Press
  - Henckaerts, J. M. and Doswald-Beck, L.: Volume 1 Rules
     http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/customary-international-humanitarian-law-i-icrc-eng.pdf
  - Henckaerts, J. M. and Doswald-Beck, L (Eds.): Volume 2, Parts 1 and 2 Practice
     http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/customary-international-humanitarian-law-ii-icrc-eng.pdf
  - 2012 Update: http://www.icrc.org/eng/resources/documents/news-release/2012/12-11customary-international-humanitarian-law.htm
- Pictet, J. (1979). The fundamental principles of the Red Cross: commentary. Geneva: Henry Dunant Institute. http://www.icrc.org/eng/resources/documents/misc/fundamental-principles-commentary-010179.htm
- Pictet, J. (1958). The Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949: commentary. Geneva: International Committee of the Red Cross, 1952-1960. http://www.icrc.org/eng/resources/documents/publication/p0203.htm

#### International human rights law

- International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) of 1966
   http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CCPR.aspx
- International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR) of 1966 http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CESCR.aspx
- Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide of 1948 http://www.hrweb.org/legal/genocide.html
- Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women of 1979 http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/cedaw/
- Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhumane or Degrading Treatment or Punishment of 1984 http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CAT.aspx
- Convention on the Rights of the Child of 1989: http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CRC.aspx

#### Refugees and internally displaced persons

- The Refugee Convention of 1951 http://www.unhcr.org/3b66c2aa10.html
- Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement of 1998 http://www.idpguidingprinciples.org/
- The African Union Convention for the Protection and Assistance of Internally Displaced Persons in Africa http://www.unhcr.org/4ae9bede9.html
- The Great Lakes Protocol on the Protection and Assistance to Internally Displaced Persons http://www.brookings.edu/fp/projects/idp/GreatLakes IDPprotocol.pdf

#### International criminal law

- Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court of 1998 http://untreaty.un.org/cod/icc/statute/english/rome\_statute(e).pdf
- Prosecutor v. Tadić, Case No. IT-94-1-T, Decision on Defense Motion for Interlocutory Appeal on Jurisdiction, 2 October 1995 http://www.unhcr.org/refworld/docid/47fdfb520.html

#### **Humanitarian principles**

- OCHA on Message: Humanitarian Principles, 2011-12
  - http://ochanet.unocha.org/p/Documents/v.2.%20website%20overview%20tab%20link%202%20 Humanitarian%20Principles.pdf
  - http://ochanet.unocha.org/p/Documents/OOM-humanitarianprinciples\_eng\_June12.pdf

#### Online course

- Advanced training program on humanitarian action (ATHA): The role of international law in humanitarian assistance - module
  - http://www.atha.se/atha-module-role-international-law-humanitarian-assistance

# Challenges, Traps and Debates

A briefing on current policy and implementation issues, challenges and debates

#### In this section:

- The emergence of 'international disaster response laws, rules and principles'
- IHL and humanitarian assistance involving non-state armed groups
- The responsibility to protect
- Compliance with and enforcement of international humanitarian law
- References
- Resources

## **Challenges, Traps and Debates**

# The Emergence of 'International Disaster Response Laws, Rules and Principles'

Operating specifically in the context of armed conflict, international humanitarian law covers only part of the regime of humanitarian assistance. The growing number of disasters and their humanitarian impacts has prompted the need for a framework that addresses the responsibilities of states and humanitarian agencies in disaster settings. This has led to the emergence of international disaster response laws, rules and principles (IDRL), comprised of a collection of international instruments addressing various aspects of post-disaster humanitarian relief. It aims to cover a broad range of rules, including issues related to initiation of disaster assistance, consent, access, conditions of assistance, and movement of personnel and materials (Todres, 2011).

## Differing contexts – disasters and armed conflicts

There is often a greater expectation in the case of disasters than in armed conflicts that domestic authorities will take the primary role in international humanitarian aid efforts and will not only facilitate access, but also coordinate it and monitor its effectiveness. In addition, given the longer establishment of IHL, there is much broader acceptance and clarification of the specific rights and obligations in armed conflict. There are fewer conditions that can legitimately be imposed on international humanitarian organisations before allowing them access in conflict settings.

In terms of regulatory concerns, many of the same issues are faced in both disaster and conflict environments. These include regulatory barriers, such as bureaucratic delays in the entry of personnel, goods and equipment; and regulatory gaps, such as the absence of mechanisms to facilitate efficient domestic legal recognition of international organisations. There are also differences, however, for example concerns over security, which may not be as relevant in some disaster situations.

In mixed situations, where there is both a disaster and ongoing armed conflict – for example the 2004 tsunami in Sri Lanka, IHL is the governing law. Even if the need for relief is prompted by a natural disaster rather than by ongoing fighting, the obligations of the parties to the conflict in an armed conflict setting remain the same (Fisher, 2007).

#### What are the main sources of IDRL?

IDRL is not a comprehensive or unified framework. There are no core international treaties, such as the Geneva Conventions and Additional Protocols under IHL. Rather, it consists of a fragmented and piecemeal collection of various international, regional and bilateral treaties, non-binding resolutions, declarations, codes, guidelines, protocols and procedures. This includes relevant provisions of international treaties in other areas of law, such as international human rights law, international refugee law and IHL (in the case of conflict situations).

#### **Treaties**

These largely comprise bilateral treaties, covering various areas such as technical assistance, mutual assistance and agreements regulating humanitarian relief between the two state parties. The latter two

tend to involve formal rules for the initiation and termination of assistance; and provisions for reducing regulatory barriers (involving e.g. visas and work permits and customs control for relief personal and goods). Regional treaties have largely been adopted for mutual disaster assistance and are in place in the Americas, Asia and Europe.

There are a limited number of multilateral treaties. Like other bilateral treaties, they are often focused on a particular sector of operations such as health, telecommunications and transport. The global, but sectoral, Tampere Convention of 1998, for example, commits parties to reduce regulatory barriers and restrictions on the use, import and export of telecommunications equipment for disaster relief (Bannon, 2008; Fisher, 2007). Some global treaties are specific to particular types of disasters, including environmental treaties and treaties concerning industrial or nuclear accidents. Although these global treaties are legally binding, many are limited in utility as few states have ratified them or they are very limited in scope, geographic reach, or enforceability. In addition, few treaties address international actors other than states or UN agencies (Heath, 2011; Todres, 2011).

#### International custom

It has been argued that there is a right to receive humanitarian assistance in disaster situations under customary international law. Sources relied upon include the 'Code of Conduct for the International Red Cross and Red Crescent Movement and NGOs in Disaster Relief' which states that there is a right to receive and to offer humanitarian assistance. In addition, the right to a healthy environment as an aspect of the fundamental right to life has been relied upon not only to demonstrate a right to assistance under IHRL but also as part of customary international law.

However, for practice to develop into customary law there must be an indication of extensive and uniform state practice and a belief that such actions are required by law. In contrast, states have often responded to disasters on a case-by-case basis. It is also doubtful whether actions of non-state actors can be relied upon to satisfy the requirements of international custom (de Urioste, 2006-7).

#### **UN resolutions (soft law)**

The **instruments with the broadest scope in IDRL are non-binding** recommendations, declarations and guidelines. This includes the 'Measures to Expedite International Relief', endorsed by the UN General Assembly and the International Conference of the Red Cross in 1977. The General Assembly also passed Resolution 36/225 in 1981, which called for strengthening the UN's capacity to respond to disasters; and Resolution 46/182 in 1992, which called for a 'strengthening of the coordination of emergency humanitarian assistance of the United Nations system'. Around the same time, the office that would later become the Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA) was created. In 2002, the General Assembly adopted Resolution 57/150, which reaffirmed resolution 46/182 and provided for strengthening the effectiveness and coordination of international urban search and rescue assistance.

#### **IDRL** Guidelines

The International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies adopted in 2007 the 'Guidelines for the Domestic Facilitation and Regulation of International Disaster Relief and Initial Recovery Assistance' (see recent developments in IDRL below). They are considered to be a significant development to the IDRL framework, with the potential to contribute to the development of norms under customary international law.

## How is humanitarian assistance treated in IDRL: What duties and rights exist?

These various instruments that comprise IDRL do not impose a duty on affected states to accept international assistance. UN General Assembly Resolution 36/225 emphasises that sovereignty remains a key feature of international disaster assistance. Resolution 46/182 specifies that the affected state has the primary responsibility for all aspects of humanitarian assistance within its territory (initiation, organisation, coordination and implementation) and that international assistance should be provided with the state's consent. These and other General Assembly resolutions have tended to focus on the 'importance' rather than the 'right' of humanitarian assistance in disaster contexts (Fisher, 2010).

Eburn (2011) suggests four scenarios where the deployment of disaster assistance without the prior consent of the affected state could be justified. These are: (i.) where a state is unable or unwilling to provide relief; (ii.) where there is no effective government of the affected state; (iii.) where action by the intervening state is aimed at preventing the spread of a hazard into its own territory; and (iv.) under the auspices of the UN in order to deal with a threat to international peace and security. All of these situations would be rare. In addition, intervening without the consent of the state party would make it extremely challenging to delivery assistance effectively.

#### Cyclone Nargis in Burma – arguments for intervention without consent

In 2008, Cyclone Nargis devastated Burma, leaving over 130,000 people dead and many in need of humanitarian assistance. However, the Burmese government refused access to the affected population by states and NGOs that were ready and willing to assist, while at the same time being slow to take responsibility itself. There were fears that without access, infectious disease would spread and the lives of many more thousands would be endangered. Arguments were made that states should be able to use force to protect the population in Burma from human rights abuses, considered here to be failure on the part of the state to assist the affected community (see the section on R2P). This was done in 1992, when the UN Security Council endorsed military action in Somalia to facilitate the delivery of humanitarian assistance. In that case, the conflict was providing a significant barrier to delivery. Ultimately, in the case of Burma, intense diplomatic efforts were partially successful at securing limited access to the affected populations and the international community was able to find non-coercive ways to pressure the government into participating in a coordinated, humanitarian response. Although many problems remained and progress was slow, this was considered to be a better alternative than forced humanitarian assistance in the context of a disaster (Eburn, 2010; Barber, 2009).

## What are the gaps in IDRL and related problems?

While regulatory problems in the delivery of humanitarian assistance exist in both disaster and conflict settings, they are exacerbated in the former due to the absence of an established comprehensive legal framework and an undeveloped disaster response and coordination mechanism. Common problems identified include the following:

#### Initiation / barriers to entry

In cases of major disaster, it is very rare that a state will refuse international assistance (the case of Burma was a unique situation). Instead, the more common problem is delay in the issuance of a formal request for such assistance or in the response to international offers. This could be due to weaknesses in national procedures and regulations for needs assessment and decision-making (Fisher, 2007).

## Legal facilities for operation

Even where consent is given for humanitarian operations, there are often problems with visas and travel restrictions. Disaster personnel are often granted entry on tourist or other temporary visas, which can cause subsequent problems with renewal and efforts to obtain work permits. Customs formalities are also a frequent problem, with relief goods held up for long periods of time waiting for clearance. The recognition of domestic legal status is another common problem for international relief providers, particularly for NGOs and foreign Red Cross or Red Crescent societies. The processes are often too slow or difficult to negotiate in emergency settings. Unregistered organisations face various problems, including difficulty opening bank accounts, hiring staff, obtaining visas for workers and tax exemptions. Bilateral agreements, negotiated in advance of an emergency, can be of significant assistance in addressing these issues. Without an agreement is in place, there is little guidance at the international level beyond the general obligation to facilitate aid (Mosquini, 2011; Bannon, 2008; Fisher, 2007).

## Regulation of coordination and quality

Although affected states are expected to play the leading role in disaster settings, they have in some cases adopted a 'hands-off' approach, which has resulted in uneven and uncoordinated international efforts. International legal regulation of the quality of humanitarian assistance is also considered weak. This is due in part to states' reluctance to create legal frameworks that could threaten control over their borders; and concern by humanitarian actors that quality control regulations could result in loss of independence and freedom of action (Fisher, 2010).

#### Regulatory barriers and lack of coordination in post-tsunami disaster relief

Following the devastating 2004 Indian Ocean earthquake and tsunami, many countries in the region were in need of humanitarian assistance. There were various regulatory and co-ordination problems, however, that resulted in ineffective and inefficient delivery of assistance. During relief efforts in Indonesia and Thailand, relief personnel were consistently required to exit and re-enter the country during their operations to renew their visas, with substantial expense and loss of time. Customs formalities were also a problem, with extensive delay in clearance of consignments in Indonesia and Sri Lanka and ultimately wasted perishable food and medications. Even where relevant treaties were in place, for example the Tampere Convention (ratified by Sri Lanka) to deal with telecommunications equipment, there is no indication that any of the provisions were specifically invoked during the relief operation. Domestic registration processes were also a problem in Thailand, with foreign NGOs unsuccessful at getting information about the registration process from governmental sources even months after the disaster struck. In Sri Lanka, the government introduced various new structures that overlapped with existing structures for relief efforts, resulting in duplication and bureaucratic barriers. There was little government consultation, coordination and information sharing with local groups and communities, which also led to inefficient duplication and lack of tailoring to local needs. Many humanitarian agencies were also unfamiliar with local contexts and conflict dynamics, resulting in ineffective interventions (CPA, 2007; Bannon, 2008; Fisher, 2007).

## What are recent developments in IDRL?

Although IDRL is still in a nascent stage and gaps remain in its framework, progress has been made. The adoption of the 'Guidelines for the Domestic Facilitation and Regulation of International Disaster Relief and Initial Recovery Assistance' (IDRL Guidelines) by the International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies in 2007 is considered to be a significant development. Although these guidelines are non-binding, they are comprehensive in geographic scope, relevant for all sectors and for all types of disasters, and address both state and non-state actors. They aim to foster international agreement on how to address key issues specific to disaster settings. They define the responsibilities of affected states (reinforcing that primary responsibility lies with affected states) and offer a set of recommendations to governments for preparing their domestic laws and systems to manage international assistance during relief efforts. This includes encouraging legal facilities for operation, such as visa, customs and transport facilitation, tax exemptions, and a simplified process for acquiring temporary domestic legal personality. These facilities are conditional on ongoing compliance by humanitarian actors with core humanitarian principles and minimum standards drawn from widely recognised sources, such as the Code of Conduct.

The substance of the guidelines is drawn primarily from international laws, rules, norms and principles; and from lessons and good practice from the field. The guidelines have achieved broad international support. State parties to the Geneva Conventions adopted these guidelines at the International Conference of the Red Cross and Red Crescent in 2007. Moreover, several countries have already

adopted new regulations or administrative rules based on or inspired by the guidelines (Mosquini, 2011; Fisher, 2010; Bannon, 2008).

The International Law Commission (ILC), an expert body of the UN charged with codifying customary international law, has also been engaging in advancing the framework for disaster response. Its **programme on the 'Protection of Persons in the Event of Disasters'** is aimed at developing a legally binding framework at the global level (Mosquini, 2011). Draft articles include attention to humanitarian principles; the duty of states to seek assistance when their national response capacity is exceeded; the duty not to arbitrarily withhold consent to external assistance; and the right of the international community to offer assistance.

## **IHL and Humanitarian Assistance Involving Non-State Armed Groups**

Since the mid-1990s, IHL has expanded its coverage of non-international armed conflicts. Various treaties have been drafted or revised to regulate states and armed groups party to such conflicts. Customary international law has gone through a similar expansion (Roberts and Sivakumaran, 2012). The term 'armed groups' is not defined in treaty law. In order to be classified as a non-international armed conflict, the parties involved must demonstrate a certain level of organisation. Organised armed groups are extremely diverse, however, ranging from those that are highly centralised (with a strong hierarchy and effective chain of command) to those that are decentralised (with semi-autonomous or splinter factions) (Mack, 2008). Groups may also differ in their level of territorial control; and their capacity to train members and to carry out disciplinary or punitive measures for IHL violations (Rondeau, 2011). The terms 'organised armed group', 'non-state armed group' and 'armed group' will be used interchangeably in this section.

#### Under what basis is IHL considered binding on non-state armed groups?

IHL binds all parties to non-international armed conflicts, whether state actors or organised armed groups. Various explanations are given to justify the binding force of IHL on armed groups. These include binding force via the following:

#### The state – the doctrine of legislative jurisdiction

This explanation, considered by some as **the majority view**, **holds that IHL applies to armed groups because the 'parent' state has accepted the IHL rule(s).** It is based on the capacity and right of a state to legislate for all its nationals and to impose upon them obligations that originate from international law. Organised armed groups may reject such an explanation, however, on the grounds that this is the same state against which they are fighting (Kleffner, 2011).

#### **Individuals**

The fact that individuals can be held accountable for war crimes demonstrates that they are subject to duties that stem directly from IHL. Kleffner (2011) argues, however, that individual responsibility is not sufficient to justify the binding force of IHL on organised armed groups.

#### The exercise of de facto government forces

Should an organised armed group carry out government functions and exercise effective sovereignty (or de facto authority), it may be argued that it is thus bound by IHL (Kleffner, 2011). Similar arguments have been made to justify the application of human rights obligations to non-state actors (Bellal et al., 2011). This degree of effectiveness is rarely met by armed groups, however (Kleffner, 2011). In addition, there is no clear legal indication of what level of 'authority' is required to trigger human rights obligations (Bellal et al., 2011).

## International customary law – legal personality

Armed groups that have reached a certain level of organisation, stability and effective control of territory can be considered to possess international legal personality. This renders them bound by customary international law (Kleffner, 2011). A similar argument is made regarding human rights law and the application of 'general principles of law recognised by civilised nations'. The International Law Association argues that armed groups are bound by core human rights norms that are part of jus cogens norms (Bellal et al., 2011).

These explanations can be beneficial as armed groups here are bound by the international community of states, rather than by the state against whom they fight. Nonetheless, as long as armed groups are excluded from these processes of law formation, their sense of ownership over the rules may still be weak (Kleffner, 2011; ICRC, 2005b).

#### Consent – special agreement or unilateral declaration

IHL can be binding on such groups due to their own consent, rather than being imposed. Common Article 3(2) of the Geneva Conventions encourages parties to a non-international armed conflict to conclude 'special agreements' through which all or parts of the other provisions of the Conventions (applicable to international armed conflict) are brought into force. There are various situations in which armed groups have entered into agreements with international organisations and states in which they accept certain IHL obligations (see box below: Operation Lifeline Sudan). Such agreements are considered to improve compliance by non-state groups. States are often unwilling, however, to enter into such agreements due to concerns about granting legitimacy to armed groups party to the conflict (Roberts and Sivakumaran, 2012; Pfanner, 2009). There are also concerns that it could lead to the argument that armed groups must consent to all rules in order to be considered bound by them (Kleffner, 2011).

Armed groups have also engaged in unilateral declarations of their acceptance of IHL rules. For example, various non-state actors have become party to the 'Deeds of Commitment', an instrument launched by Geneva Call to ban anti-personnel mines and to further protect children from the effects of armed conflict.

## Operation Lifeline Sudan – an example of negotiated access

Operation Lifeline Sudan (OLS) materialized in April 1989 during the Second Sudanese Civil War between the Khartoum-based government in the North and the Sudan People's Liberation Army (SPLA) in the South. Displacement and starvation occurred on a large scale. OLS involved a 'negotiated access' model, whereby a trilateral agreement was reached in 1989 by the United Nations, the Sudanese government and the SPLA in order to access affected areas in the South (and to a lesser extent the North). While originally based solely on 'mutual understandings', the OLS later adopted signed written agreements with the rebel movements on 'ground rules'. These rules involved acknowledgement of the need for protection of civilians for aid delivery; the right of civilians to live in safety and dignity; and the principle that humanitarian assistance must be provided in accordance to considerations of need alone, independent of political factors. OLS set an important precedent that it is possible to negotiate access to areas of conflict; and to obtain acknowledgement from both warring sides of the need to provide civilians with humanitarian relief and to facilitate safe delivery. It contributed to the distribution of large amounts of food and other relief supplies to southern Sudan, which helped significantly in relieving famine and suffering. Despite an established system of 'ground rules', however, there were problems with accountability and the neutrality of humanitarian aid. Glaser (2005) argues that in practice, the rules were used more as a tool to provide safe access than as a means of holding rebel authorities accountable. There were various accusations that the SPLA was diverting aid meant for civilians and using it to feed their own soldiers (Philpot, 2011; Rigalo and Morrison, 2007; Glaser, 2005).

### Should armed groups be involved in law creation?

It is commonly argued that non-state armed groups are unlikely to feel bound by rules that they had no part in developing, thus undermining compliance. There are various cases in which armed groups have given notice that they do not consider themselves bound by particular rules since they did not participate in their creation. In response, some scholars have advocated for the participation of non-state armed groups in law creation, in order to boost their sense of ownership, recognition of and compliance with IHL rules. The UN Secretary General has indicated that although engagement with such groups may be considered 'unpalatable' by some states, it is essential in order to promote respect for IHL and to protect civilians (Rondeau, 2011, p. 137). This suggestion faces much resistance, however, as states are reluctant to relinquish their exclusive law-making powers (Roberts and Sivakumaran, 2012).

Concerns with this potential expansion in the sources of law are centred on views that it would affect the legal status of armed groups and increase their perceived legitimacy. Roberts and Sivakumaran (2012) argue that granting armed groups some role in lawmaking does not have to lead to any change in their legal status. There is no precedent to indicate that this would be a necessary outcome. Concerns over imparting legitimacy to armed groups are even more pronounced. The Government of Myanmar, for example, prevented UN entities from engaging with Burmese armed groups on child soldier issues due to their concerns over legitimising the groups. Another key concern, from the perspective of the international community, is that the involvement of armed groups in law creation could result in the

downgrading of humanitarian law protections. This is related to the view that by granting such groups a role in lawmaking, they may declare that they are not bound by existing legal obligations to which they played no role in developing. It is thus important to ensure that the participation of armed groups is not equated to giving them a role equal to that of states or the license to dictate the content of the law (Roberts and Sivakumaran, 2012).

### How to engage with armed groups?

Roberts and Sivakumaran (2012) highlight several ways in which armed groups could be incorporated into law creation:

- Encouraging them to engage in unilateral declarations and 'special agreements' that bind them to IHL rules.
- Integrating them into multilateral treaties, either by giving armed groups some role in treaty negotiation and/or recognising a right for armed groups to ratify or accede to the treaty.
- Allowing them to play a role in the creation of customary IHL ('quasi-custom'), for example, through the publishing of their codes of conduct, internal orders, drafted constitutions and penal codes, many of which may contain IHL provisions (e.g. the Ejército Zapatista de Liberación Nacional (EZLN) of Mexico enacted a Revolutionary Women's Law and the LTTE in Sri Lanka enacted a Child Protection Act). The legal status of these materials remains contentious, however. While the ICRC has stated that their legal significance is 'unclear', the ICTY has taken into account some of the practice of non-state armed groups in determining that various customary rules apply to non-international armed conflicts.

Bangerter (2009) provides some practical guidance on how to engage in dialogue with non-state armed groups and to persuade them to follow IHL rules. Merely explaining IHL and telling decision-makers and commanders about specific legal standards, while essential, is rarely sufficient to convince armed groups to comply. The following three principles are important to adopt in order to improve the chances of successful persuasion:

- Taking time to discuss: this process entails building a case over time and involves both parties exchanging ideas and asking questions, rather than simply stating a position.
- Sowing doubt rather than trying to convince: by creating a sense of doubt, it may become possible to find pragmatic solutions. For example, reminding a commander that child soldiers represent a command and control problem in military terms may render him or her more open to discussions to end child recruitment and to demobilize existing child soldiers.
- Appealing to the other person's self-image: most members of armed groups view themselves as part of a decent group, fighting for a noble cause, rather than as war criminals. Appealing to these positive convictions could result in their acceptance of certain protections.

## The Responsibility to Protect

The **principle of non-intervention** is a **key aspect of international law**. The UN Charter of 1945 states clearly that: 'Nothing in the present Charter shall authorize the United Nations to intervene in matters which are essentially within the domestic jurisdiction of any state' (Article 2(7)). This provision applies specifically to UN organs. An exception to the principle of non-intervention is articulated in the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide, which asserts in Article 1 that 'genocide, whether committed in time of peace or in time of war, is a crime under international law which [contracting states] undertake to prevent and to punish'. Most countries are party to this treaty. In addition, Chapter VII of the UN Charter allows for the Security Council to 'determine the existence of any threat to the peace, breach of the peace, or act of aggression' and to take military or non-military action to 'restore international peace and security'.

Despite these latter provisions, the response of the international community to genocide and threats to peace has often been erratic and incomplete (Evans, 2006-7). Barber (2009) argues, however, that although there have been significant failures, such as in Somalia in 1993, Rwanda in 1994 and Srebrenica, Bosnia and Herzegovina, in 1995, there has been a gradual expansion in the Security Council's interpretation of what constitutes a 'threat to the peace, breach of the peace, or act of aggression' over the past decades.

## What led to the development of the 'responsibility to protect'?

The experience of Kosovo (1998-1999) was a turning point that resulted in extensive debate about international intervention. After the brutal conflict in Bosnia and Herzegovina, the international community was quick to condemn the violence in Kosovo. Security Council resolutions 1160 and 1199 of 1998 identified the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (FRY) as the primary culprit and called on the FRY to achieve a political solution. The resolutions stopped short though of a decision to take 'all necessary measures' or to authorise member states to do so. In March 1999, following lack of adherence of the Yugoslav side and continued violence, NATO commenced air strikes against Serb forces. After 11 weeks, the defeated Serb troops retreated from Kosovo. NATO justified the military intervention on humanitarian grounds. Although the intervention was viewed as decisive for ending the military conflict in Kosovo and for stopping mass killings and other human rights violations there, NATO's actions were controversial and considered by some to be a violation of the prohibition of the use of force (Hilpold, 2009).

In the aftermath of Kosovo, many attempts were made to find a legal justification for the intervention. Efforts were also made to determine whether developments in Kosovo amounted to acceptance of 'humanitarian intervention' (military action to prevent or end human rights violations, without the consent of the state within whose territory the force is applied) as a legal form of action. Hehir (2009) finds that Kosovo has not resulted in any change in international customary law. Since Kosovo, there has not been any evidence of consistent state practice regarding unilateral humanitarian action. In addition, there is no general acceptance (opinio juris) of such action, evident in the fact that various countries, including China, Russia, India, Japan, Indonesia and South Korea were unsupportive of NATO's intervention. In the aftermath, 133 states comprising the G-77 declared that they reject the so-called 'right' of humanitarian intervention.

In response to the legal deficiencies exposed by Kosovo and NATO's justification of humanitarian intervention, then UN Secretary general Kofi Annan called for fresh thinking on the issue. In response, the International Commission on Intervention and State Sovereignty (ICISS) published in 2001 its seminal

report entitled *The Responsibility to Protect*. It aims to find some new common ground on issues of humanitarian intervention. The report states that while the responsibility to protect resides first and foremost with the state whose people are directly affected, a **'residual responsibility' lies with the broader community of states**, and that this residual responsibility is 'activated when a particular state is clearly either unwilling or unable to fulfil its responsibility to protect or is itself the actual perpetrator of crimes or atrocities (p. 17).'

## How does the 'responsibility to protect' differ from 'humanitarian intervention'?

'Humanitarian intervention' and the 'responsibility to protect' (R2P) share the conviction that sovereignty is not absolute. However, the R2P doctrine shifts away from state-centred motivations to the interests of victims by focusing not on the right of states to intervene but on a responsibility to protect populations at risk. In addition, it introduces a new way of looking at the essence of sovereignty, moving away from issues of 'control' and emphasising 'responsibility' to one's own citizens and the wider international community (Arbour, 2008; Evans, 2006-7).

Another contribution of R2P is to extend the intervention **beyond a purely military intervention** and to encompass a whole continuum of obligations:

- The responsibility to prevent: Addressing root causes of internal conflict. The ICISS considered this to be the most important obligation.
- The responsibility to react: Responding to situations of compelling human need with appropriate measures that could include sanctions, prosecutions or military intervention.
- The responsibility to rebuild: Providing full assistance with recovery, reconstruction and reconciliation.

#### How has the concept of R2P been treated?

R2P is referred to in the ICISS report as an 'emerging guiding principle', which has yet to achieve the status of a new principle of customary international law (p. 15). The UN High-Level Panel on Threats Challenges and Change endorsed R2P as an 'emerging norm' in its report *A More Secure World: Our Shared Responsibility* (2004, p. 106). R2P as an 'emerging norm' was confirmed by the UN Secretary-General's 2005 report, *In Larger Freedom: Towards Development, Security and Human Rights for All*, which centred on the idea that threats facing humanity can only be solved through collective action. At the same time, the report acknowledged the sensitivities involved in R2P (p. 35). Also in 2005, the concept of R2P was incorporated into the outcome document of the high-level UN World Summit meeting. Participating member states recognised the responsibility of each individual state to protect its population from genocide, war crimes, ethnic cleansing, and crimes against humanity, as well as a corresponding responsibility of the international community to help states to exercise this responsibility through peaceful means or through collective action should peaceful means prove inadequate. This document was adopted by the General Assembly in its Resolution 60/1 2005 World Summit Outcome (paras 138-139).

The R2P framework has been criticized for not being gender-responsive in that it largely neglects the differing needs and capacities of men and women; and fails to acknowledge that women are disproportionately represented among the poor and marginalized in weak unstable states. Decision-

making structures that emphasise the equal participation of women should be incorporated in the framework (Bond and Sherret, 2005).

## What is the legal force of R2P and what are challenges to its implementation?

Unlike treaties, General Assembly resolutions are not binding under international law but are solely recommendatory. Nonetheless, Gierycz (2010) argues that the World Summit Outcome document has particularly high political and moral significance since its commitments were undertaken by the world leaders. In addition, it addresses fundamental issues involving the obligation to provide protection from genocide, war crimes, ethnic cleansing and crimes against humanity. These obligations reflect well established rules and principles of IHL and IHRL treaties and customary international law. Arbour (2008) also emphasises that the R2P doctrine rests on an established obligation under international law: the prevention and punishment of genocide as stipulated in the Genocide Convention.

Alongside uncertainty over the legal force of R2P, there are various other challenges involved with its implementation. Bellamy (2006) highlights that the inclusion of R2P in the Outcome Document derived in part from a concession whereby the notion of legitimate intervention without Security Council approval, which was integral to the original ICISS proposal, was dropped in favour of Security Council authorisation (cited in Hehir, 2009). As such, the original notion of R2P has lost a core aspect in its General Assembly adoption.

In addition, the concept of complementarity, whereby the primary responsibility to protect lies with the state and the subsidiary responsibility with the international community, can result in an additional threshold for collective security action. Domestic authorities may invoke their primary responsibility to argue against any exercise of protection by international actors, which may be accepted by the international community. Such was the case in Darfur, where Security Council members claimed that it was premature to impose sanctions against Sudan since the crisis had not reached the stage where the domestic government had demonstrated a clear failure to exercise its responsibility to protect (Stahn, 2007). Further, none of the key documents that endorse R2P provide meaningful guidance on how to deal with violations of the responsibility to protect by states and the international community.

#### The context of disasters

The devastating effects of cyclone Nargis in Burma and the refusal by the government to allow access to affected populations resulted in arguments to extend the concept of R2P to disaster situations. Some members of the ICISS argued that R2P was not meant to protect people from the impact of natural disasters; whereas others argued that R2P could be invoked if a government's failure to respond, in the face of immense need and the threat of large-scale loss of life, amounted to a crime against humanity. Collective action was ultimately not adopted in the case of Burma, nor did the UN General Assembly endorse such an expansion in coverage of R2P. Nonetheless, Barber (2009) argues that the concept of R2P could still be important in developing a legal framework for assessing the appropriate role of the international community in the aftermath of natural disaster.

#### Intervention in Libya – strengthening or weakening R2P?

In response to the rapidly disintegrating situation in Libya in 2011, the UN Security Council adopted Resolution 1970 in March, which deplored the gross and systemic human rights violations in the country, called for an end to hostilities and for the observance of human rights, and set in place a number of coercive measures. Resolution 1973 reiterated the responsibility of the Libyan government to protect the Libyan population and authorised coercive military intervention, without the consent of the Libyan government. Two days after this resolution, a military coalition under the umbrella of NATO began bombing Libyan government positions, with the aim of protecting the civilian population against gross human rights abuses. With ensuing concerns of a stalemate between the government and rebels, the goal of the intervention shifted to one of regime change. The subsequent military victory of the NATO coalition was seen as sufficient to conclude that the R2P operation was a success. The intervention was also seen by some to have advanced the cause of R2P: opposing Security Council countries had restrained from using a veto, and swift action had been taken. The intervention has been severely criticised, however, particularly by Security Council members who had abstained from the vote on Resolution 1973, for 'mission creep'. Had regime change been specified as a goal from the outset, it is unlikely that Security Council endorsement would have materialised. Residual concerns over 'mission creep' have been used to explain to some extent why the UN Security Council has failed to act in the case of Syria, despite reports of violations of a scale similar to those in Libya (Zifcak, 2012).

## **Compliance with and Enforcement of International Humanitarian Law**

There are various methods and mechanisms that have been adopted to promote compliance with and enforcement of international humanitarian law. For example, these can take the form of penal and disciplinary measures, legal advisors in the military and military sanctions, fact finding missions, human rights bodies, and the enforcement of international criminal law through courts and tribunals.

#### Provisions under the Geneva Conventions and Additional Protocols

## **Protecting Powers**

The Geneva Conventions introduced the system of appointing Protecting Powers in order to ensure that protected persons are treated in accordance with the Conventions (common Art 8). This system has not been effective, however, and has rarely been implemented. The Geneva Conventions also provide for the ICRC to take the place of the Protecting Powers, if none are appointed, and make provision for the ICRC to visit prisoners of war and detained civilians (common Art 10) (Pfanner, 2009). The ICRC today declines to act as protecting power instead of acting on its own behalf.

#### **Fact-Finding Commission**

Additional Protocol I introduced the International Humanitarian Fact-Finding Commission, with the role of inquiring into any allegations of serious violations of the Geneva Conventions or API (Art 90). The Commission has rarely been relied upon, however, probably in large part due to the requirement that inquiries can only be initiated by state parties into other state parties, rather than allowing for initiation by individuals claiming breaches of IHL (Pfanner, 2009). (UN fact-finding missions will be discussed later in this section.)

#### Penal measures

Another method of enforcement envisaged by the Geneva Conventions and AP I is the obligation by state parties to investigate persons accused of carrying out or ordering the most serious war crimes, known as grave breaches (wilful killing, torture or inhuman treatment, biological experiments, wilfully causing great suffering, causing serious injury to body or heath, unlawful and wanton extensive destruction and appropriation of property not justified by military necessity). Grave breaches are liable to punishment and prosecution (GCI, Art 49, GCII, Art 50, GC III, Art 129, GCIV, Art 146). While many states have incorporated clauses in their national penal systems, providing for sanctions for grave violations of IHL, it is up to them to decide how and by whom such measures should be taken (Philippe, 2008).

#### Reparations

Should parties to a conflict be held responsible for breaches in IHL in international armed conflict, there is an obligation to pay compensation (AP1, Art 91). It remains disputed, however, whether an individual right to reparations is recognised under IHL (Pfanner, 2009).

#### Military counsel and sanctions

Uniformed military lawyers comprise the compliance unit within the military. They work to ensure that commanders and troops obey the rules of engagement, which operationalise IHL. A study of military lawyers in the US Army Judge Advocates General's Corps (JAG) found that they help to devise the rules of engagement and train troops in these rules, prior to deployment and on the battlefield. In order to promote salience and compliance, these rules are framed in a way that demonstrates their contribution to military effectiveness (Dickinson, 2010).

Soldiers who use excessive force are also subject to disciplinary action, often resulting in criminal or administrative penalties. Disciplinary sanctions can be used to repress not only grave breaches but also other violations of IHL. Depending on the scope of military disciplinary law provided for in a state, the impact on compliance with IHL can be significant. Sanctions have a dual aim: education, which involves encouraging soldiers to discharge their responsibilities better and to respect the rules; and dissuasion, which serves as a warning to all personnel under the authority imposing the sanction. In order for national military disciplinary sanctions to promote compliance with IHL, they must be based on rules that are themselves inspired by IHL (Renault, 2008).

## **Fact-finding**

Fact-finding can be defined as a method of determining facts through the 'evaluation and compilation of various information sources' (Boutruche, 2011, p. 2). While fact-finding missions, such as those conducted or supported by the UN Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights and the UN Human Rights Council (UNHRC) have focused on human rights violations in peacetime and during armed conflict, they have more recently expanded to include coverage of IHL – for example, the UNHRC sponsored fact-finding on the Gaza conflict (2008-9) and on the 'Israeli attacks on the flotilla of ships carrying humanitarian assistance' (2010). Other examples of fact-finding by the UN on IHL issues including the Kalshoven Commission in Yugoslavia (1992) and the International Inquiry on Darfur (1995), both of which were authorised by the UN Security Council. Fact-finding has also extended to cover non-state actors, such as the Darfur rebels and the Palestinian authorities (Yihdego, 2012). There have also been fact-finding visits of the UN special rapporteur on violence against women to various conflict areas, such as Darfur, the DRC and Palestine.

By ascertaining facts and interpreting and applying general IHL rules, fact-finding can play an integral role in the implementation of IHL. Fact-finding can also facilitate determinations of individual criminal liability. Some UN fact-finding reports (e.g. Yugoslavia and Darfur) have led to criminal indictments (Boutruche, 2011).

There are various challenges to fact-finding on international human rights and humanitarian law violations. These include:

- Separating fact-finding and legal evaluation.
- Lack of information, making it difficult to reach definite conclusions and to satisfy robust standards of proof.
- Establishing facts dependent on complex aspects of armed conflict, such as command structures, legitimate military targets, and principles of proportionality.
- Securing cooperation from the parties to the conflict in order to access relevant areas to obtain and verify information. There are currently no legal consequences to non-compliance with UNHCR and UN General Assembly fact-finding. In contrast, the UN Security Council can refer fact-finding to the ICC or to a special criminal tribunal (such as in the case of Yugoslavia) (Boutruche, 2011).
- Lack of witness protection mechanisms to protect those who come forward to give information.
- Addressing the dilemma faced by humanitarian actors, whose participation in fact-finding and other accountability mechanisms may undermine their access to populations in need (see also the section below on ICL).
- The interplay of human rights and IHL in inquiries; facts in question can vary depending on whether they are assessed under IHL or under human rights. Legal conclusions will also vary according to the body of law applied. Boutruche (2011) notes that Commissions of inquiry tend to affirm the complementary nature of human rights and IHL, highlighting in addition the principle of lex specialis (see Overview of IHL).
- Communicating the importance of fact-finding to local communities that have been affected by violent conflict and the links to accountability and protection.

## **Human rights bodies**

International humanitarian law focuses on 'the parties to the conflict'. In contrast, international human rights law is formulated as individual entitlements and provides for a right to remedy, through lodging **individual complaints** against alleged violations. Such a right does not exist in IHL. As such, human rights bodies – human rights treaty monitoring bodies and the Human Rights Council – have increasingly been called upon to **scrutinise the application of human rights law in situations of armed conflict**. While their competence is generally confined to determination of violations under human rights law, this does not preclude them from taking into consideration provisions of IHL in order to interpret such norms. The involvement of human rights bodies in situations of armed conflict can be beneficial in terms of using human rights law to supplement and assist in interpreting state obligations under IHL (Byron, 2006-7).

Some scholars have argued, however, that the consideration of IHL by human rights bodies can be problematic. Human rights bodies often lack expertise in IHL and may reach conclusions contrary to humanitarian law experts (Meron, cited in Byron, 2006-7). Should human rights bodies continue to deal with cases involving armed conflict, it is important that an effort is made to employ more members with IHL expertise. Another criticism is that human rights law is not enforceable against non-state groups. As such, the findings of a human rights body addressing a case involving a non-international armed conflict may appear one-sided since it cannot hear applications against or demand reports from non-state entities (Byron, 2006-7).

### Courts, tribunals and international criminal law

#### The International Court of Justice

The International Court of Justice, the main judicial organ of the United Nations, applies all bodies of international law. It contributes to the implementation of humanitarian law through its jurisprudence and its advisory opinions. It can be called upon to settle a dispute between states on the application of IHL so long as both states have consented to the Court's jurisdiction. The ICJ's interpretations of IHL, **judgments and opinions are influential** and widely respected. (See, for example: the case of Nicaragua vs. the US, concerning the *provision of aid to the* Contras *in Nicaragua* in this guide's section on Humanitarian Principles and Humanitarian Assistance; and the *Legality of Nuclear Weapons* and *Construction of a Wall in the Occupied Palestinian Territories* opinions in *Overlapping Areas of Law*.) However, judgments **may not necessarily be implemented**. The US has yet to pay war reparations to Nicaragua, as ordered by the Court; and the opinions are inherently non-binding (Pfanner, 2009).

#### International criminal law

International criminal law prohibits certain categories of conduct viewed as serious atrocities (primarily war crimes, crimes against humanity and genocide) and seeks to hold accountable individual perpetrators of such conduct (individual criminal responsibility). **Grave breaches of IHL** rules, as specified in the Geneva Conventions (see *Provisions under the Geneva Conventions and Additional Protocols* above), **constitute war crimes for which individuals can be held directly accountable.** It is the **primary responsibility of states to prosecute** these crimes. If a state is unable or unwilling, then the crimes can be tried by **international criminal tribunals** established by treaty or by a binding decision of the UN Security Council (Posse, 2006).

International ad hoc tribunals (e.g. ICTY and ICTR), mixed tribunals (e.g. the Special Court for Sierra Leone), and the permanent International Criminal Court have been set up to enforce individual criminal responsibility for violations of IHL, crimes against humanity and genocide. Responsibility is incurred not only by acting, but also by failing to act where there is an obligation to act. This includes military leaders and their superiors who fail to take necessary and reasonable measures to prevent or suppress the commission of unlawful acts by subordinates, over whom they have effective control (Posse, 2006). This form of liability, termed 'command responsibility' has been established by the ICTY and ICTR.

Court decisions are not simply declaratory of the law, but courts themselves are important actors in their development. The ICTY and ICTR interpreted their mandate as extending to non-international armed conflict, whereas the Geneva Conventions and Additional Protocols only specified the application of individual criminal responsibility in international armed conflict situations. This extended jurisdiction was subsequently incorporated into the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court. The ICC also specifies two categories of crimes over which they have jurisdiction. The first concerns grave breaches of the Geneva Conventions in international armed conflict and serious violations of Article 3 in the case of non-international armed conflict. The second concerns other serious violations of the laws and customs applicable in international and non-international armed conflicts. This includes 'intentionally directing attacks against personnel, installations, material, units or vehicles involved in a humanitarian assistance [mission]' as long as they are entitled to civilian protection under IHL (Rome Statute, Articles 2(b)(iii) and 2(e)(iii)). In addition to war crimes, the ICC and the other international (and mixed) tribunals have jurisdiction over crimes against humanity, genocide and the crime of aggression.

Humanitarian organisations operating in conflict areas are often witness to violations that can be used as evidence in international criminal proceedings. However, their participation in such proceedings could undermine their access to populations in need. If parties to the conflict that are facilitating the delivery of assistance are at risk of criminal investigation and prosecution, they may deny humanitarian actors access to affected areas and withdraw from humanitarian dialogue. Humanitarian organisations need to develop a strategy to address this dilemma; and international criminal tribunals need to be aware of these risks. Both sides should work together to minimise potential adverse impacts on the provision of humanitarian assistance (La Rosa, 2006).

#### References

#### **Key texts**

- Bannon, V. (2008). International disaster response law and the Commonwealth: Answering the call to action. *Commonwealth Law Bulletin*, 34, 843-857. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03050710802521622
- Evans, G. (2006-7). From humanitarian intervention to the responsibility to protect. Wisconsin International Law Journal, 24, 703-722. http://heinonline.org/HOL/Page?handle=hein.journals/wisint24&div=35&g\_sent=1&collection=journals
- Fisher, D. (2010). The right to humanitarian assistance. Studies in Transnational Legal Policy, 47, 41-128. http://heinonline.org/ /HOL/Page?handle=hein.journals/stdtlp41&div=9&g\_sent=1&collection=journals
- Roberts, A. and Sivakumaran, S. (2012). Lawmaking by nonstate actors: Engaging armed groups in the creation of international humanitarian law, Yale Journal of International Law, 37, 107-152.

http://www.yjil.org/docs/pub/37-1-roberts-sivakumaran-lawmaking-by-nonstate-actors.pdf

Arbour, L. (2008). The responsibility to protect as a duty of care in international law and practice. *Review of International Studies*, *34*, 445-458.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0260210508008115

Bangerter, O. (2009). Talking to armed groups, *Forced Migration Review*, *37*, 7-9. http://www.fmreview.org/non-state/Bangerter.html

Barber, R. (2009). The responsibility to protect the survivors of natural disaster: Cyclone Nargis, a case study, *Journal of Conflict and Security Law*, 14, 3-34.

http://jcsl.oxfordjournals.org/content/14/1/3.short

Bellal, A., Giacca, G. and Casey-Maslen, S. (2011). International law and armed non-state actors in Afghanistan, *International Review of the Red Cross*, *93*(881), 47-79.

http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/review/2011/irrc-881-bellal-giacca-casey-maslen.pdf

Bond, J. and Sherret, L. (2006). *A sight for sore eyes: Bringing gender vision to the responsibility to protect framework*. The International Research and Training Institute for the Advancement of Women (UN-INSTRAW)

http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=2129575

Boutruche, T. (2011). Credible fact-finding and allegations of international humanitarian law violations: challenges in theory and practice. *Journal of Conflict and Security Law*.

http://jcsl.oxfordjournals.org/content/early/2011/01/29/jcsl.krq027.short

Byron, C. (2006-7). Blurring of the boundaries: the application of international law by human rights bodies. *Virginia Journal of International Law*, *47*, 839-896.

http://heinonline.org/HOL/Page?handle=hein.journals/vajint47&div=25&g\_sent=1&collection=journals

CPA (2007). *Reflections on tsunami one year on: lessons to be learnt*. Colombo, Sri Lanka: The Centre for Policy Alternatives (CPA).

http://www.cpalanka.org/wp-content/uploads/2007/8/RADA\_Discussion\_Paper.pdf

de Urioste, A. (2006-7). When will help be on the way - the status of international disaster response law. *Tulane Journal of International and Comparative Law, 15,* 181-206.

http://heinonline.org

/HOL/Page?handle=hein.journals/tulicl15&div=10&g\_sent=1&collection=journals

Dickinson, L. A. (2010). Military lawyers on the battlefield: an empirical account of international law compliance. *American Journal of International Law, 104,* 1-28.

http://www.heinonline.org

/HOL/Page?handle=hein.journals/ajil104&id=3&collection=journals&index=journals/ajil

Eburn, M. (2010). International law and disaster response. *Monash University Law Review*, *36*, 162-189. http://heinonline.org

/HOL/Page?handle=hein.journals/monash36&div=36&g\_sent=1&collection=journals

Fisher, D. (2007). Domestic regulation of international humanitarian relief in disasters and armed conflict: a comparative analysis. *International Review of the Red Cross, 89*, 345-372.

http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/irrc\_866\_fisher.pdf

Gierycz, D. (2010). The responsibility to protect: a legal and rights-based perspective. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, *2*, 250-266.

http://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/mnp/gr2p/2010/00000002/00000003/art00005

Glaser, M. P. (2005). Humanitarian engagement with non-state armed actors.

London: Humanitarian Practice Network

http://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/B05F1E9120BCC144C125704600599DAC-odi-gen-30 jun.pdf

Heath, J. B. (2011). Disasters, relief, and neglect: the duty to accept humanitarian assistance and the work of the International Law Commission. *43*, 419-477.

http://www.law.nyu.edu/ecm\_dlv2/groups/public/@nyu\_law\_website\_\_journals\_\_journal\_of\_international\_law\_and\_politics/documents/documents/ecm\_pro\_069726.pdf

Hehir, A. (2009). NATO's 'Humanitarian Intervention' in Kosovo: Legal precedent or aberration? *Journal of Human Rights, 8,* 245-264.

http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/14754830903110319

Hilpold, P. (2009). The Kosovo case and international law: looking for applicable theories. *Chinese Journal of International Law, 8,* 47-61.

http://chinesejil.oxfordjournals.org/content/8/1/47.short

Kleffner, J. K. (2011). The applicability of international humanitarian law to organized armed groups. *International Review of the Red Cross*, *93*(882), 443-461.

http://www.icrc.org/fre/assets/files/review/2011/irrc-882-kleffner.pdf

La Rosa (2006). Humanitarian organisations and international criminal tribunals, or trying to square the circle. *International Review of the Red Cross*, 88(861), 169-186.

http://www.unitar.org/ny/sites/unitar.org.ny/files/irrc\_861\_LaRosa.pdf

Mack, M. (2008). *Increasing respect for international humanitarian law in non-international armed conflicts*. Geneva: ICRC

http://www.icrc.org/eng/resources/documents/publication/p0923.htm

Mosquini, E. (2011). Are lawyers unsung disaster heroes: the importance of well-prepared domestic legal and regulatory frameworks for effective disaster response. *Emory International Law Review, 25*, 1217-1232

http://www.law.emory.edu/fileadmin/journals/eilr/25/25.3/Mosquini.pdf

Pfanner, T. (2009). Various mechanisms and approaches for implementing international humanitarian law and protecting and assisting war victims. *International Review of the Red Cross*, *91*(874), 279-328. http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/irrc-874-pfanner.pdf

Philippe, X. (2008). Sanctions for violations of international humanitarian law: the problem of the division of competences between national authorities and between national and international authorities. *International Review of the Red Cross*, *90*(870), 359-370.

http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/irrc-870\_philippe.pdf

Philpot, H. (2011). *Operation Lifeline Sudan: Challenges during conflict and lessons learned.* Case-specific briefing paper. University of Denver.

https://www.du.edu/korbel/criic/humanitarianbriefs/hollyphilpot.pdf

Posse, H.D.T.G. (2006). The relationship between international humanitarian law and the international criminal tribunals. *International Review of the Red Cross, 88*(861), 65-86.

http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/irrc\_861\_gutierrez.pdf

Renaut, C. (2008). The impact of military disciplinary sanctions on compliance with international humanitarian law. *International Review of the Red Cross*, *90*(870), 319-326.

 $http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/irrc-870\_renaut.pdf$ 

Rigalo, K. and Morrison, N. (2007). Operation Lifeline Sudan. In L. Hancock and C. Mitchell (Eds), *Zones of peace* (pp. 167-188). VA: Kumarian Press.

Rondeau, S. (2011). Participation of armed groups in the development of the law applicable to armed conflicts. *International Review of the Red Cross*, *93*(883), 649-672.

http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/review/2011/irrc-883-rondeau.pdf

Stahn, C. (2007). Responsibility to protect: Political rhetoric or emerging legal norm? *The American Journal of International Law, 101,* 99-120.

http://www.jstor.org/stable/4149826

Todres, J. (2011). Mainstreaming children's rights in post-disaster settings. *Emory International Law Review*, 25, 1233-1262.

http://www.law.emory.edu/fileadmin/journals/eilr/25/25.3/Todres.pdf

Yihdego, Z. (2012). The Gaza Mission: Implications for international law and UN fact-finding. *Melbourne Journal of International Law, 13*(1).

http://www.law.unimelb.edu.au/files/dmfile/downloadaea11.pdf

Zifcak, S. (2012). The responsibility to protect after Libya and Syria. *Melbourne Journal of International Law*, 13(1).

http://www.law.unimelb.edu.au/files/dmfile/downloaddad11.pdf

#### Resources

### International disaster response laws, rules and principles

- Guidelines for the Domestic Facilitation and Regulation of International Disaster Relief and Initial Recovery Assistance of 2007 (IFRC)
  - http://www.ifrc.org/en/what-we-do/idrl/idrl-guidelines/
- Protection of Persons in the Event of Disasters (ILC Programme)
   http://untreaty.un.org/ilc/guide/6\_3.htm

## The responsibility to protect

- ICISS (2001) The Responsibility to Protect, Report of the International Commission on Intervention and State Sovereignty, Ottawa http://responsibilitytoprotect.org/ICISS%20Report.pdf
- UN (2004) A More Secure World: Our Shared Responsibility, Report of the UN High-level Panel on Threats, Challenges and Change http://www.un.org/secureworld/report2.pdf
- UN General Assembly (2005) In larger freedom: towards development, security and human rights for all, Report of the Secretary-General, A/59/2005
   http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/gaA.59.2005\_En.pdf
- UN General Assembly (2005) World Summit Outcome, Resolution 60/1 http://unpan1.un.org/intradoc/groups/public/documents/un/unpan021752.pdf